

Stock Code: 902

2025 Interim Report



POWERING A BRIGHTER TOMORROW



CONTENTS

- 2 Interim Results for 2025
- 2 Business Review for the First Half of the Year
- 3 Prospects for the Second Half of the Year
- 4 Management's Discussion and Analysis
- 19 Share Capital Structure
- 19 Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares
- 20 Shareholdings of Major Shareholders
- 21 Material Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company
- 22 Directors' and Supervisors' Right to Purchase Shares
- 22 Public Float
- 22 Dividends
- 22 Disclosure of Material Events
- 23 Corporate Governance
- 35 Review of Interim Financial Information
- 35 Legal Proceedings
- 36 Documents for Inspection

PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

- 37 Independent Auditor's Report
- 39 Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Unaudited)
- 42 Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)
- 45 Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)
- 47 Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
- 50 Notes to the Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Information
- 110 Financial Statements Reconciliation between PRC GAAP and IFRSs



INTERIM RESULTS FOR 2025

The board (the "Board") of directors (the "Director(s)) of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (the "Company") announces the unaudited operating results for the six months ended 30 June 2025 and a comparison with the operating results for the same period of last year. For the six months ended 30 June 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries recorded consolidated operating revenue of RMB112.032 billion, representing a decrease of 5.70% compared to the same period of last year. The net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was RMB9.578 billion, representing an increase of 23.19% compared to the same period of last year. The earnings per share was RMB0.52. The net asset (excluding non-controlling interests and other equity instruments) per share was RMB4.35.

Please refer to the unaudited financial information below for details of the operating results.

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR THE FIRST HALF OF THE YEAR

In the first half of the year, the Company adhered to the theme of high-quality development, closely focused on the annual objectives and tasks, actively forged ahead, and worked hard to overcome challenges, maintaining a stable safety situation. The Company achieved a year-on-year improvement in operating performance, the pace of transformation and development accelerated, and reform and innovation unleashed vitality, presenting an overall positive trend of a strong start and steady progress, making a positive contribution to economic and social development.

1. Power Generation

The Company's total on-grid power generation of the power plants within China on consolidated basis amounted to 205.683 billion kWh, representing a decrease of 2.37% over the same period last year. The average utilization hours of the Company's power plants within China were 1,502 hours, representing a decrease of 178 hours over the same period last year. The Company's market-based power transaction

ratio was 84.64%, representing a decrease of 2.27 percentage points over the same period last year.

The Company continues to promote green and low-carbon transformation, which prompted the continued growth in wind power and photovoltaics ("PV") installed capacity and year-on-year rapid increase in new energy power generation. However, due to factors such as overall supply and demand being relatively loose and the growth of new energy installed capacity nationwide, the Company's coalfired power generation decreased year-on-year, leading to a year-on-year decline in the Company's total power generation.

2. Cost Control

The Company maximized favorable opportunities in the market, scientifically optimized the procurement strategy, coordinated long-term contracts and spot purchases, strived to improve the quality of long-term contract fulfillment, procured low-priced spot coal, improved the portfolio of coal stockpile, and took multiple measures to control coal procurement costs, and effectively controlled the fuel costs with remarkable results. In the first half of the year, the Company purchased a total of 87.14 million tons of coal, representing a year-on-year drop of 10.70% and the cumulative price of standard coal consumed by domestic power plants excluding tax was RMB917.05 yuan/ton, representing a year-on-year drop of 9.23%.

3. Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection

The Company strictly implements the national requirements for ecological and environmental protection. All its power generation enterprises have implemented ultra-low emission upgrades. In key regions, power plants have undergone upgrades to treat wastewater discharge, as well as dust from coal yards and ash yards, ensuring that the pollutant emission levels of relevant power plants meet the requirements of pollution discharge permits and ecological and environmental protection policies. In the first half of the year, the Company's average equivalent availability rate of domestic thermal power units was 93.52%, the coal consumption of

production power supply was 288.66g/kWh, and the rate of production auxiliary power consumption was 4.26%, the energy consumption indexes continued to maintain a good level, and the pollutant emission indexes were in line with or better than the national standards.

4. Scientific and Technological Innovation

The Company focuses on serving national strategies, increasing R&D investment in strategic emerging industries and future industries, and proactively laying out multiple fields such as network security, "Technology for Safety Enhancement", offshore wind power, and independent operation and maintenance of gas turbines, while continuously promoting the transformation of high-quality scientific and technological achievements. "An advanced and energy efficient carbon capture technology" was selected for the national key low-carbon technology promotion catalog released by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment. The COAP near-zero emissions technology achievement at the Shandong Linyi Power Plant was appraised as "internationally leading" by the Chinese Society for Electrical Engineering; the 100 MW comprehensive energy innovation demonstration project combining photovoltaic power generation and ecological construction in Anyang, Henan Province, achieved full-capacity grid connection; and the virtual power plant in Hubei successfully participated in the first trial operation of power dispatch in the electricity spot market. In the first half of the year, the Company and its affiliated units obtained authorization for 494 invention patents, 45 utility model patents, and 141 international patents.

Project Development and Construction

The Company is seizing the policy window for the marketization of the new energy sector, scientifically scheduling construction timelines, and fully advancing new energy project development while ensuring safety compliance and maintaining both quality and cost-effectiveness. During the first half of the year, the Company had additional gridconnected controllable power generation capacity of 7,987.31 megawatts ("**MW**"), including 1,724.40 MW of thermal power controllable power generation capacity, 1,928.45 MW of wind power controllable power generation capacity and 4,334.46 MW of solar power controllable power generation capacity. As of 30 June 2025, the Company's controllable installed power generation capacity was 152,992 MW, with the installed capacity of low-carbon and clean energy sources (such as wind power, solar power, hydropower, gas turbines and biomass power generation) accounting for 39.12%.

6. Overseas Business

Tuas Power Limited (the "Tuas Power") in Singapore, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, contributed to 18.61% of the power generation in Singapore market cumulatively, representing a decrease of 1.79 percentage points over the same period last year. The pre-tax profit of Company's business in Singapore was RMB1.363 billion, representing a decrease in pretax profit of RMB360 million over the same period last year, which was mainly due to the overall electricity market demand in Singapore stabilizing, more abundant supply in the power generation market, and overall electricity market prices falling significantly year-on-year.

The pre-tax profit of the operations of the Company in Pakistan was RMB436 million, representing an increase of RMB7 million compared to the same period last year.

PROSPECTS FOR THE SECOND HALF OF THE YEAR

In the second half of the year, the Company will place greater emphasis on maintaining high-quality and stable growth in a more prominent position, closely focus on the strategic goal of accelerating the construction of a world-class enterprise, further consolidate the foundation for energy supply, proactively promote excellent operation, increase the intensity of scientific and technological innovation, accelerate the pace of green development, improve the governance of listed companies, continuously

optimize the structure of assets and the structure of power supply and complete the Company's annual goals and tasks with high quality, striving to achieve the Company's goals during the "14th Five-Year Plan".

With respect to the power market, the overall supply-demand situation continued to deepen, with some regions facing growing pressure to consume renewable energy. As renewable energy sources fully enter the market for trading and the spot market expands across the board, coupled with the continued growth in renewable energy capacity, this will exert a certain impact on market prices, and the competition will become more complicated. The Company will strengthen the research on climate changes and power supply and demand in various regions, make the most of the summer and winter seasons when the demand is high and sufficient power supply is crucial and optimize the timing and structure of power generation and endeavors to make the best of the high-priced hours to generate more power and hence improve efficiency.

With respect to the coal market, during peak electricity consumption periods such as the summer and winter peak demand periods, as well as extreme weather conditions, thermal power will continue to play a role in ensuring energy security, leading to a seasonal increase in coal demand and a change in the overly relaxed supply and demand situation. The Company will closely monitor changes in the coal market, implement national policy requirements, and continuously optimize its procurement structure; give full play to the role of a stabilizer of those longterm contracts to improve contract fulfillment quality; seize market opportunities to optimize spot coal procurement; strengthen inventory management, and make the best use of the strategy of stocking up in off seasons and generating power at full capacity in peak seasons, stocking up at low price and generating power at high price. The Company

will control the cost of coal purchases through those various measures.

With respect to the capital market, in accordance with the spirit of the relevant national meetings, efforts will be made in 2025 to promote sustained economic recovery and improvement. A moderately loose monetary policy will be implemented, with a focus on better leveraging the dual functions of monetary policy tools in terms of both aggregate and structural adjustments. Coordination and collaboration between monetary and fiscal policies will be strengthened. The Company will further strengthen its analysis and research on policies, market conditions, and the capital market, pay close attention to changes in the domestic and overseas capital markets, actively respond to national support policies such as the initiatives of large-scale equipment renewals and trade-in of old consumer goods, fully utilize the special bonds for stabilizing growth and expanding investment, continuously optimize the financing structure, further expand financing channels, and ensure the funding needs for energy security supply and green and low-carbon transformation.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs"))

General

The principal activities of the Company are development, construction, operation and management of power plants within China. The Company is one of the largest publicly listed power generation companies in China. As of 30 June 2025, the Company had a controlled installed capacity of 152,992 MW, approximately 39.12% of which was from low-carbon and clean energy sources

(natural gas, solar power, wind, hydro, biomass power generation). The Company's power plants are located in 26 provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities within China. The Company is also the sole owner of a power enterprise in Singapore and has invested in a power company located in Pakistan.

For the six months ended 30 June 2025, the operating revenue of the Company amounted to RMB112.032 billion, representing a decrease of 5.70% compared to the revenue of RMB118.806

billion for the same period of last year. The net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was RMB9.578 billion, an increase of 23.19% from 7.775 billion for the corresponding period in the previous year. The earnings per share was RMB0.52, representing an increase of RMB0.12.

A. OPERATING RESULTS

1. Operating results for the first half of 2025

The Company's domestic on-grid electricity (in 100 millions of kWh) sold in the first half of 2025, by regions, is presented in the table below:

		Electric	ity Sold	
Types of generation/Region	April to June of 2025	Year-on-Year Change	January to June of 2025	Year-on-Year Change
Coal-fired	754.26	-3.46%	1,583.63	-7.06%
Combined cycle	56.54	9.16%	132.55	7.47%
Wind-power	101.19	14.32%	210.31	11.39%
PV	73.71	48.06%	122.43	49.33%
Hydro-power	2.87	-9.37%	3.89	-22.13%
Biomass power	1.92	3.78%	4.02	9.83%
Heilongjiang Province	29.36	6.37%	61.58	3.89%
Coal-fired	19.86	3.82%	44.62	4.26%
Wind-power	8.23	10.52%	14.63	3.30%
PV	0.73	-8.19%	1.33	-14.52%
Biomass power	0.54	135.66%	1.00	31.34%
Jilin Province	26.14	-2.11%	58.55	5.28%
Coal-fired	12.49	-13.97%	30.76	-5.78%
Wind-power	11.62	7.25%	23.98	16.92%
Hydro-power	0.38	49.92%	0.44	42.54%
PV	1.20	97.92%	2.17	77.44%
Biomass power	0.45	-8.18%	1.19	29.53%
Liaoning Province	36.69	14.60%	82.92	10.05%
Coal-fired	28.21	7.56%	64.95	5.35%
Wind-power	7.53	49.41%	16.42	32.39%
Hydro-power	0.13	202.72%	0.17	250.14%
PV	0.82	16.63%	1.37	11.03%
Inner Mongolia	1.89	-4.93%	3.74	-7.94%
Wind-power	1.78	-10.60%	3.58	-11.91%
PV	0.11	5,177.06%	0.16	7,385.70%

	Electricity Sold				
Types of	April to June	Year-on-Year	January to	Year-on-Year	
generation/Region	of 2025	Change	June of 2025	Change	
Hebei Province	34.88	18.87%	72.22	13.06%	
Coal-fired	22.69	5.92%	51.10	1.43%	
Wind-power	2.22	76.48%	4.40	64.74%	
PV	9.98	49.63%	16.73	54.44%	
Gansu Province	22.76	-6.95%	55.46	-4.55%	
Coal-fired	17.46	-2.42%	45.51	-3.38%	
Wind-power	5.30	-19.28%	9.95	-9.57%	
Ningxia	0.07	-6.84%	0.11	-1.33%	
PV	0.07	-6.84%	0.11	-1.33%	
Beijng	15.87	-0.55%	37.49	-2.11%	
Coal-fired	-	-	0.52	-54.25%	
Combined cycle	15.87	-0.55%	36.97	-0.53%	
Tianjin	9.68	-20.02%	23.39	-15.36%	
Coal-fired	7.04	-28.46%	18.61	-14.72%	
Combined cycle	2.05	-4.18%	3.85	-31.63%	
Wind-power	0.25	-	0.48	-	
PV	0.34	187.94%	0.45	153.29%	
Shanxi Province	19.77	-13.56%	49.15	-5.55%	
Coal-fired	11.06	-31.56%	22.27	-24.26%	
Combined cycle	0.08	-49.01%	11.45	4.08%	
Wind-power	1.88	28.06%	4.01	20.33%	
PV	6.75	32.86%	11.41	37.65%	
Shandong Province	144.89	-17.22%	311.20	-16.78%	
Coal-fired	124.18	-22.00%	272.59	-20.56%	
Wind-power	9.76	25.00%	20.59	14.76%	
PV	10.01	45.39%	16.19	49.23%	
Biomass power	0.93	-17.61%	1.83	-7.60%	
Henan Province	53.80	-1.52%	111.23	-3.82%	
Coal-fired	38.94	-7.97%	83.46	-9.74%	
Combined cycle	0.35	35.88%	0.67	45.74%	
Wind-power	11.46	16.57%	22.28	15.25%	
PV	3.04	36.94%	4.80	42.51%	
Jiangsu Province	93.24	-3.78%	186.13	-11.78%	
Coal-fired	62.88	-12.02%	123.90	-19.21%	
Combined cycle	12.06	17.78%	26.39	13.12%	
Wind-power	10.28	1.61%	22.64	-12.35%	
PV	8.03	58.10%	13.19	55.84%	

		Electricity Sold			
Types of generation/Region	April to June of 2025	Year-on-Year Change	January to June of 2025	Year-on-Year Change	
Shanghai	40.93	7.45%	95.34	0.78%	
Coal-fired	39.46	8.78%	91.17	0.18%	
Combined cycle	1.08	-33.46%	3.60	8.46%	
PV	0.39	106.80%	0.56	108.71%	
Chongqing	34.75	20.26%	76.75	11.52%	
Coal-fired	25.91	7.37%	58.12	2.05%	
Combined cycle	7.19	109.76%	16.06	71.24%	
Wind-power	1.50	16.74%	2.39	-1.26%	
PV	0.15	207.28%	0.18	147.73%	
Zhejiang Province	80.41	2.68%	163.34	4.60%	
Coal-fired	68.32	1.10%	136.85	0.68%	
Combined cycle	2.24	14.58%	5.59	59.28%	
Wind-power	8.13	5.47%	18.18	22.54%	
PV	1.73	60.01%	2.73	44.35%	
Hubei Province	35.36	9.37%	72.00	-2.87%	
Coal-fired	27.92	10.23%	58.94	-5.18%	
Wind-power	1.78	35.66%	3.47	12.05%	
Hydro-power	0.71	-22.78%	0.92	-35.42%	
PV	4.96	3.75%	8.67	16.39%	
Hunan Province	18.43	37.47%	41.55	12.45%	
Coal-fired	13.44	40.97%	32.96	15.08%	
Wind-power	2.37	30.89%	4.54	-5.63%	
Hydro-power	1.14	2.65%	1.60	-22.32%	
PV	1.47	55.94%	2.46	69.47%	
Jiangxi Province	65.77	14.47%	137.94	3.85%	
Coal-fired	55.69	9.95%	120.23	-0.25%	
Wind-power	2.83	2.67%	5.33	-0.50%	
PV	7.25	78.98%	12.38	78.62%	
Anhui Province	22.14	5.19%	47.01	13.06%	
Coal-fired	11.60	-17.75%	27.76	-4.13%	
Wind-power	3.99	65.85%	7.86	50.27%	
Hydro-power	0.04	-89.36%	0.04	-92.94%	
PV	6.52	55.62%	11.35	65.55%	
Fujian Province	47.51	15.69%	77.66	-3.68%	
Coal-fired	46.18	14.63%	75.45	-4.80%	
PV	1.33	69.94%	2.21	60.66%	

	Electricity Sold				
Types of generation/Region	April to June of 2025	Year-on-Year Change	January to June of 2025	Year-on-Year Change	
Guangdong Province	71.05	2.45%	133.58	2.27%	
Coal-fired	59.22	5.23%	107.86	2.38%	
Combined cycle	8.08	-9.72%	15.01	-9.77%	
Wind-power	2.78	-22.48%	8.94	15.43%	
PV	0.97	80.70%	1.77	102.37%	
Guangxi	3.67	39.79%	6.66	20.29%	
Combined cycle	1.00	29.01%	1.83	28.51%	
Wind-power	1.91	20.87%	3.73	0.27%	
PV	0.76	182.83%	1.11	177.26%	
Yunnan Province	39.82	10.91%	77.11	-3.01%	
Coal-fired	34.78	7.88%	66.68	-4.43%	
Wind-power	3.29	4.40%	7.69	-11.60%	
PV	1.75	272.91%	2.74	176.95%	
Guizhou Province	4.14	23.71%	6.68	4.63%	
Wind-power	0.48	6.53%	0.97	-21.47%	
PV	3.66	26.40%	5.71	10.93%	
Hainan Province	37.45	7.28%	68.04	6.10%	
Coal-fired	26.91	0.69%	49.32	-0.41%	
Combined cycle	6.53	3.63%	11.13	-3.06%	
Wind-power	1.83	1,507.17%	4.24	1,005.79%	
Hydro-power	0.47	6.89%	0.72	25.32%	
PV	1.70	28.94%	2.64	21.83%	
Total	990.49	1.44%	2,056.83	-2.37%	

The main reason for the decrease in the Company's power generation was as follows: In the first half of the year, the Company continued to advance its green and low-carbon transition, with sustained growth in installed wind-power and photovoltaics, leading to a year-on-year increase in new energy generation. However, due to overall loose supply and demand conditions and a nationwide increase in new energy installations, the power generation of the Company's coal-fired units decreased year-on-year, resulting in an overall decrease in total power generation compared to the same period of last year.

For the second quarter of 2025, Tuas Power Limited in Singapore, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, contributed to 18.49% of the power generation volume in Singapore market, representing a decrease of 0.71 percentage points compared to the same period of last year.

For the first half of 2025, Tuas Power Limited in Singapore contributed to 18.61% of the power generation volume in Singapore market cumulatively, representing a decrease of 1.79 percentage points compared to the same period of last year.

2. Comparative analysis of operating results

2.1. Operating revenue and tax and levies on operations

For the first half of 2025, the consolidated operating revenue of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB112.032 billion, representing a decrease of 5.70% compared to RMB118.806 billion over the same period last year.

The operating revenue from domestic operations of the Company decreased by RMB4.829 billion over the same period of last year, mainly due to a year-onyear decrease in domestic electricity sales volume and average tariff. The operating revenue from the operations of the Company in Singapore decreased by RMB2.298 billion over the same period of last year, which was mainly attributable to factors related to the market policy and the addition of fast-response gas turbines, the year-on-year decline of overall price of the Singapore electricity market, the decreased prices of newly signed retail contracts compared to the previous year; the stabilized overall electricity market demand and ample market supply in Singapore, and the decreased electricity volume of Sinosing retail contracts.

The operating revenue from the operations of the Company in Pakistan increased by RMB0.354 billion over the same period of last year, mainly due to an increase in electricity sales volume.

Tax and levies on operations mainly consist of Resources Tax, Environment Protection Tax, Real Estate Tax, Land Use Tax, VAT Surcharge, etc. For the first half of 2025, the tax and levies on operations of the Company and its subsidiaries were RMB1.105 billion, representing an increase of 22.84% compared to RMB0.9 billion over the same period of last year.

2.2. Operating expenses

For the first half of 2025, the consolidated operating expenses of the Company and its subsidiaries were RMB93.306 billion, representing a decrease of 9.77% compared to RMB103.412 billion in the same period last year.

The operating expenses in domestic operations of the Company decreased by RMB8.670 billion, due to the decrease in fuel costs as a result of lower domestic fuel prices.

The operating expenses from the operations in Singapore decreased by RMB1.892 billion from the same period last year due to the decrease in electricity procurement costs. The operating expenses from the operations in Pakistan increased by RMB0.456 billion from the same period last year due to the increase in fuel cost.

2.2.1 Fuel costs

For the first half of 2025, fuel costs of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB58.305 billion, representing a decrease of 14.40% compared to RMB68.114 billion in the same period last year.

2.2.2 Maintenance

For the first half of 2025, the maintenance costs of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB2.058 billion, representing an increase of 10.62% compared to RMB1.861 billion in the same period last year.

2.2.3 Depreciation

For the first half of 2025, depreciation expenses of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB13.560 billion, representing an increase of 6.47% compared to RMB12.735 billion in the same period last year.

2.2.4 Labour

Labour costs consist of salaries of employees and contributions payable for employees' housing funds, medical insurance, pension and unemployment insurance, as well as training costs. For the first half of 2025, labour costs of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB9.019 billion, representing an increase of 3.85% compared to RMB8.685 billion in the same period last year.

2.2.5 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses mainly included costs related to environmental protection, insurance, office expenses, research and development, amortization, electricity procurement costs from Tuas Power, impairment losses, government subsidies, and gains and losses from the disposal of properties, plants, and equipment etc. For the first half of 2025, other operating expenses of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB10.365 billion, representing a decrease of 13.75% compared to RMB12.018 billion in the same period of last year, mainly attributed to the electricity procurement costs decrease from the operations in Singapore.

2.3. Financial expenses

For the first half of 2025, financial expenses of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB3.567 billion, representing a decrease of 16.59% compared to RMB4.276 billion in the same period last year, mainly attributed to the decrease of interest expenses of RMB0.540 billion.

Financial expenses for the Company's domestic operation decreased by RMB410 million, mainly due to the decrease in cost of interest-bearing debt.

Financial expenses for the Company's operations in Singapore decreased by RMB17 million. Financial expenses for the Company's operations in Pakistan decreased by RMB113 million, mainly due to the decrease of loan principal and lower financing costs.

2.4. Share of profits and losses of associates and joint ventures

For the first half of 2025, the share of profits and losses of associates and joint ventures of the Company and its subsidiaries was RMB0.765 billion, representing a decrease of 10.86% compared to RMB0.858 billion in the same period last year, mainly due to the decrease of investment income from the Company's associates and joint ventures.

2.5. Income tax expenses

For the first half of 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries recognized income tax expense of RMB2.388 billion, representing an increase of 22.73% compared to RMB1.946 billion in the same period last year.

The income tax expenses for the Company's domestic operation increased RMB0.541 billion from the same period last year, mainly due to the year-on-year increase in profits from domestic operations in the current period.

The income tax expenses for the Company's operation in Singapore decreased RMB61 million from the same period last year. The income tax expenses for the Company's operation in Pakistan decreased RMB38 million from the same period last year.

2.6. Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

For the first half of 2025, the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was RMB9.578 billion, representing an increase of 23.19% compared to RMB7.775 billion in the same period last year.

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company from its domestic operations increased by RMB2.081 billion compared to the same period last year, main due to (1) The company seizes the opportunity of declining fuel prices, scientifically coordinates long-term coal contracts with spot purchases to further reduces fuel costs, leading to a year-on-year increase in profits for the thermal power segment; (2) The scale of new energy expanded in an orderly manner, with stable and increasing profit from the photovoltaic segment.

The net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company's Singapore operations decreased by RMB0.296 billion as compared to the same period last year. The company thoroughly analyzes changes in Singapore's electricity and fuel market, responded swiftly to market dynamics, and continues to advance lean management practices. Meanwhile, the Company increased revenue through initiatives such as power storage repurchases and natural gas substitution burning.

The net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company's Pakistan operations increased by RMB18 million as compared to the same period last year.

2.7. Comparison of financial positions

As of 30 June 2025, total assets of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB602.552 billion, representing an increase of 1.17% from 31 December 2024. As of 30 June 2025, total liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries were RMB384.280 billion, representing a decrease of 0.19% from 31 December 2024. The asset-liability ratio as of 30 June 2025 was 63.78% representing a decrease of 0.87 percentage point from 31 December 2024.

2.8. Comparison of major financial ratios

Item	30 June 2025	31 December 2024
Ratio of liability to equity holders' equity	2.59	2.68
Current ratio	0.57	0.54
Quick ratio	0.51	0.46
	For the	For the
	six months ended	six months ended
	30 June 2025	30 June 2024
Multiples of interest earned	4.61	3.43

Formula of the financial ratios:

Ratio of liabilities to equity holders' equity = balance of liabilities as of the period end/balance of shareholders' equity (excluding non-controlling interests) as of the period end

Current ratio = balance of current assets as of the period end/balance of current liabilities as of the period end

Quick ratio = (balance of current assets as of the period end – net inventories as of the period end)/ balance of current liabilities as of the period end

Multiples of interest earned = (profit before tax + interest expense)/interest expenditure (inclusive of capitalized interest expense)

The ratio of liabilities to equity holders' equity of the Company and its subsidiaries as of 30 June 2025 decreased as compared to 31 December 2024 due to the increase in first half profit of 2025. The current ratio and quick ratio remain stable compared to 31 December 2024. The multiples of interest earned increased due to increase in first half profit compared to the same period last year.

As of 30 June 2025, the net current liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries were RMB73.249 billion. Based on the Company's successful financing history, banking facilities granted by banks that can be withdrawn at any time and good credit status, the Company has confidence to repay its debts in a timely manner, secure long-term loans borrowings through financing activities and ensure sufficient funding for the business development needs.

B. LIQUIDITY AND CASH RESOURCES

1. Liquidity

For the Six Months Ended 30 June

	2025	2024	Change
	RMB billion	RMB billion	%
Net cash provided by operating activities	30.748	23.603	30.27
Net cash used in investing activities	(21.803)	(21.554)	1.16
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities	(5.760)	1.981	N/A
Currency exchange impact	0.161	0.146	10.27
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	3.346	4.176	(19.88)
Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period	18.601	16.151	15.17
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period	21.947	20.327	7.97

For the first half of 2025, the Company's net cash inflow from operations was RMB30.748 billion, representing an increase of 30.27% over the same period last year, mainly due to the combined effect of decrease in profit and decrease in coal procurement costs. Net cash outflow from investment activities was RMB21.803 billion, remaining stable from the same period last year. Net cash outflow from financing activities was RMB5.760 billion, mainly due to the profit from the operations of the Company and increase of repayment of loans.

As of 30 June 2025, the cash and cash equivalents of the Company and its subsidiaries included RMB in the amount of RMB17.871 billion, SGD equivalent to RMB2.372 billion, US Dollars equivalent to RMB0.498 billion, Pakistan Rupees equivalent to RMB1.117 billion and Japanese Yen equivalent to RMB89 million.

Foreign exchange risk of the entities operating within the China primarily arises from loans denominated in foreign currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries. SinoSing Power Pte. Ltd ("SinoSing Power") and its subsidiaries are exposed to foreign exchange risk on bank balances, accounts receivable, other receivables and assets, accounts payable, longterm bonds and other liabilities that are denominated primarily in US\$, while its functional currency is the Singapore dollar. Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan) Energy (Private) Co., Ltd. ("Ruyi Pakistan Energy") is exposed to foreign exchange risk on bank balances, financial lease receivables, accounts payable and other liabilities and long-term loans that are denominated primarily in US\$, while its functional currency is the Pakistan rupee. The Company closely monitor interest rate and foreign exchange markets with the aim of mitigating foreign exchange risk.

2. Capital expenditure and cash resources

2.1 Capital expenditure on infrastructure construction and renovation projects

In the first half of 2025, the actual capital expenditure on infrastructure and renovation of the Company and its subsidiaries was RMB19.017 billion, of which RMB17.258 billion was capital expenditure, mainly wind power of RMB6.142 billion, photovoltaic of RMB6.579 billion, thermal power of RMB4.105 billion and others of RMB0.432 billion. Expenditure on renovation and transformation was RMB1.759 billion.

2.2 Cash resources and anticipated financing costs

Good operating results and sound credit status provide the Company with strong financing capabilities. As of 30 June 2025, the unutilized banking facilities available to the Company and its subsidiaries amounted over RMB420.0 billion, which are granted by commercial banks such as Bank of China, China Construction Bank, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China and other commercial banks.

As of 30 June 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries' long-term loans (including long-term loans due within one year) totalled RMB186.977 billion (31 December 2024: RMB183.778 billion), including RMB loans of RMB177.677 billion (31 December 2024: RMB175.020 billion), USD loans of RMB7.141 billion equivalent (31 December 2024: RMB8.018 billion equivalent), SGD loans of RMB2.071 billion equivalent (31 December 2024: RMB0.656 billion equivalent) and JPY loans of RMB0.088 billion equivalent (31 December 2024: RMB0.084 billion equivalent). Among them, SGD loans are floating rate loans, JPY

loans are fixed rate loans. For the six months ended 30 June 2025, the annual interest rate for long-term loans was 0.75% to 9.04% (31 December 2024: 0.75% to 9.35%).

2.3 Other financing requirements

The Company implements a consistent and stable profit distribution policy. On 24 June 2025, upon the approval from shareholders at the 2024 annual general meeting, the Company declared a cash dividend of RMB0.27 (inclusive of tax) for each ordinary share amounting to RMB4.238 billion.

C. PERFORMANCE OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Company acquired 25% equity interest in Shenzhen City Energy Group Co., Ltd. ("Shenzhen Energy Group") for RMB2.390 billion on 22 April 2003. In 2011, Shenzhen Energy Group divided into a remainder company of the same name and a new company Shenzhen Energy Management Company ("SE Management"), and the Company holds 25% equity interests in each of the two successors. The Company acquired 200 million shares from Shenzhen Energy Corporation ("Shenzhen Energy"), a subsidiary of Shenzhen Energy Group in December 2007. Shenzhen Energy allotted shares with its capital surplus in 2011. In February 2013, Shenzhen Energy merged with SE Management through the combination of directional seasoned offering and cash payment to shareholders of SE management. After the merger, the Company held 991,741,659 shares of Shenzhen Energy, representing 25.02% of its equity interests. These investments are expected to provide stable returns to the Company.

D. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

As of 30 June 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries had 55,350 employees.

During the reporting period, there was no change to the Company's compensation plan and training program.

E. GUARANTEE FOR LOANS AND RESTRICTED ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, the Company provided guarantees for long-term loans of approximately RMB1,338 million (31 December 2024: RMB1,273 million) of the Company's domestic subsidiaries.

As at 30 June 2025, the Company provided guarantees for long-term bonds of approximately RMB2,148 million (31 December 2024: RMB4,313 million) of the Company's overseas subsidiaries.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB88 million (31 December 2024: RMB84 million) were guaranteed by Enshi Finance Bureau of Hubei Province.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB73 million (31 December 2024: RMB78 million) were guaranteed by Tangyin County Modern Agricultural Investment Co., Ltd.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB202 million (approximately US\$28 million) (31 December 2024: RMB202 million (approximately US\$28 million)) were guaranteed by Huaneng Shandong Power Generation Co., Ltd. ("Shandong Power").

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB4,771 million (31 December 2024: RMB5,635 million) were guaranteed by Shandong Power, China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation and Jining Chengtou Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. ("Jining Chengtou") at the liability ratio of 17.5%, 65.0% and 17.5% respectively (31 December 2024: Shandong Power, China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation and Jining Chengtou at the liability ratios of 17.5%, 65.0% and 17.5% respectively).

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB320 million (31 December 2024: RMB711 million) were guaranteed by Shandong Power and Jining Chengtou at the liability ratios of 50.0% and 50.0% respectively (31 December 2024: Shandong Power and Jining Chengtou at the liability ratios of 50.0% and 50.0% respectively).

China Huaneng Group Fuel Co., Ltd. ("Huaneng Group Fuel") guaranteed the financial leasing business between Shanghai Ruining Shipping Co., Ltd. ("Ruining Shipping") and ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. Huaneng Hainan Power Generation Co., Ltd. ("Hainan Power Generation"), the subsidiary of the Company, counter-guaranteed based on the 40% equity ownership in Ruining Shipping. As at 30 June 2025, Hainan Power Generation counter-guaranteed Huaneng Group Fuel of approximately RMB45 million (31 December 2024: RMB89 million).

As at 30 June 2025, the details of secured loans of the Company and its subsidiaries were as follows:

As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans of RMB9 million (31 December 2024: RMB47 million) represented the notes receivable that were discounted with recourse. As these notes receivable had not yet matured, the proceeds received were recorded as short-term loans.

As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans of RMB4 million (31 December 2024: RMB302 million) were secured by certain equipment with a net book value amounting to approximately RMB150 million (31 December 2024: RMB427 million).

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of RMB2,732 million (31 December 2024: RMB3,051 million) were secured by certain property, plant and equipment with a net book value amounting to approximately RMB4,752 million (31 December 2024: RMB4,875 million).

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB4,834 million (31 December 2024: RMB5,060 million) were secured by future revenue from the electricity business.

As at 30 June 2025, the restricted bank deposits of the Company and its subsidiaries were RMB1,183 million (31 December 2024: RMB1,331 million).

F. Risk Factors

1. Electricity Industry and Market Risks

According to statistics from relevant national authorities, during the first half of the year, the growth rate of renewable energy nationwide significantly outpaced that of electricity demand. The substantial increase in renewable energy output has notably reduced the market share for coalfired power. Overall, it is expected that in 2025, the growth in national power supply capacity will exceed the growth in electricity demand, the overall supplydemand of power will be loose. In certain regions, the pressure on renewable energy consumption has become increasingly prominent. With the full integration of renewable energy into market-based trading and a sharp increase in medium- to long-term power supply, the marginal cost of renewable energy will be much lower than that of coal-fired power, which will have a certain impact on market prices. With the full rollout of the spot market and the continued growth in new energy installed capacity, competition in the spot market has intensified under a supply-demand surplus. Electricity prices are expected to trend downward, which may impact the Company's overall profitability.

The Company will actively track national and industryrelated policies, proactively adapt to the development needs of the electricity market under the "dual carbon" goals, and comprehensively consider market factors such as system demand, spatial value, price trends, and trading mechanisms to optimize investment regions and power source combinations, seeking to maximize economic benefits. The Company will accelerate the technological upgrade and transformation of coal-fired power units, strengthen its analysis of electricity supply and demand trends, and adjust pricing strategies in a timely manner to fully mitigate risks in the electricity industry and market. At the same time, the continuous improvement of ancillary services, capacity compensation, and price transmission mechanisms will create favorable conditions for the Company's stable operations and sustainable development.

2. Risks in the Fuel Procurement Market

With the recovery of the domestic macroeconomy and the continuous increase in electricity consumption, during peak electricity demand periods such as summer and winter peaks and extreme weather conditions, thermal power will continue to play a crucial role in ensuring energy security, coal supply is expected to experience seasonal rebounds, and the previously excessive looseness in supply and demand may begin to ease. In coastal regions, the proportion of imported coal is relatively high, making coal supply more vulnerable to policies and the international coal market, resulting in certain uncertainties.

The Company will closely monitor changes in the coal market, implement national policy requirements, and fully leverage the role of long-term contracts as a stabilizing force, improve the quality of long-term contract fulfillment, seize market opportunities and purchase low-priced spot coal in stages. It will stay abreast of international coal market conditions and policy, further optimize the import of coal. The Company will continue to optimize its supply structure, enhance peak supply capacity, and improve adaptability to the new electricity market. It will strengthen inventory management, utilize seasonal storage strategies, and implement various measures to control coal procurement costs.

3. Carbon Market Risks

The national carbon market has completed three compliance periods, and in the third compliance period, the Company successfully fulfilled all compliance obligations ahead of schedule. In the fourth compliance period (2024), the allocation of allowances will continue to tighten, and under the allowance carryover policy, the market may experience price volatility risks.

The Company will closely monitor changes in national carbon market policies, accelerate energy-saving and emission-reduction upgrades, effectively control the total carbon emissions, and strategically optimize carbon trading policies in an effort to reduce compliance costs.

4. Environmental Risks

In line with the current state and demands of ecological civilization construction, the national government continues to improve and deepen environmental protection policies in key regions including, but not limited to, the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei area, the Yangtze River Economic Belt, the Pearl River Delta and the Yellow River Basin. New and stricter standards and operational requirements have been introduced in areas such as water body protection and dust control, with increased on-site inspections. As a result, environmental protection expenses for grassroots enterprises may rise.

The Company strictly implements national environmental protection policies, ensuring that all of its coal-fired power plants have completed ultra-low emissions upgrades and are operating in compliance with ultra-low emissions standards. The Company has shown good adaptability to fluctuations in external and internal factors such as weather conditions, fuel quality, and electricity and heat load, and all plants have passed local environmental protection department inspections. Additionally, the Company actively monitors environmental concerns from regulatory authorities, and with a cautious approach, scientifically selects advanced and applicable technological solutions. Efforts are being made to improve water conservation and wastewater treatment systems, build coal yard enclosures, and enhance comprehensive utilization of ash and slag, ensuring that environmental risks are promptly identified and effectively mitigated.

5. Power Construction Risks

In power construction, the Company may face risks such as extreme weather, rising labour costs, delays in obtaining necessary permits and documents, and longer-than-expected land acquisition periods.

The Company will proactively address these risks and challenges, enhancing organizational coordination and mobilizing the active participation of all project stakeholders. The Company will work to overcome difficulties and ensure that projects progress in an orderly manner according to plan.

G. Other Disclosures

To thoroughly implement the spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China and the Central Economic Work Conference, continue to implement the relevant arrangements of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council to improve the quality of centrally-administered stateowned enterprises' listed companies, and actively respond to the Shanghai Stock Exchange's "Initiative on Conducting the 'Quality Improvement, Efficiency Enhancement, and Focus on Shareholder Returns' Special Action of Companies Listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange", the Company takes further deepening of quality and efficiency improvement as the starting point, endeavors to promote the Company's high-quality development, guides the reasonable return of the Company's value, and continuously carries out the action of "Quality Improvement, Efficiency Enhancement, and Focus on Shareholder Returns".

The Company takes the new energy security strategy of "Four Reforms and One Cooperation" as the fundamental guideline, aims at carbon peak and carbon neutrality, and puts quality and efficiency first, and vigorously promotes the green and low-carbon transformation of energy. In the first half of the year, the Company seized the window period of the new energy marketization policy, scientifically arranged the work schedule, and pushed forward the construction of new energy projects under the premise of ensuring safety compliance, high quality and cost-effectiveness, the Company newly added a total of 7,987.31 MW of controllable power generation capacity, of which 6,262 MW was from newly installed new energy capacity. As of 30 June 2025, the Company's installed controllable power generation capacity was 152,992 MW. Among them, the share of low-carbon clean energy installed capacity increased to 39.12%. The Company strengthened its industry policy research and market analysis, dynamically optimized

its coal procurement strategy, and enhanced various cost controls, resulting in its operating results reaching a new level. For the first half of 2025, the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was RMB9.578 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 23.19%, and earnings per share of RMB0.52, representing a year-on-year increase of 30.00%. As the next step, the Company will focus on promoting the transformation of its energy structure and continue to contribute positively to the promotion of Chinese-style modernization and the construction of a new type of power system.

In active support of national efforts to strengthen the capital market and enhance investor returns, and building upon the requirement of the Articles of Association of distributing no less than 50% of profits as dividends, the Company further raised its dividend payout ratio for 2024 after taking into account investor suggestions and its actual circumstances. Upon approval by the 2024 annual general meeting, the Company declared a cash dividend of RMB0.27 per share (tax inclusive) to all shareholders, with a total cash dividend payout exceeding RMB4.2 billion.

In addition, the Company places great importance on investor relations management. The Company communicates with investors in a sincere, equal and mutually respectful manner, using timely, twoway and multi-channel methods to continuously strengthen and improve the Company's investor relations management. At the end of March 2025, the Company held its 2024 annual results presentation in both Beijing and Hong Kong, and conducted a non-deal roadshow in Hong Kong. In May 2025, the Company participated in the collective results briefing held by China Huaneng Group at the Shanghai Stock Exchange Roadshow Centre. The management team responded comprehensively to market concerns, showcasing the Company's corporate image and growth potential across multiple dimensions.

As the next step, the Company will continue to push forward the work related to the "Quality Improvement, Efficiency Enhancement, and Focus on Shareholder Returns" initiative, and will remain committed to delivering solid business performance, upholding sound corporate governance, and strengthening investor communications. Through these efforts, the Company strives to fulfil its responsibilities and obligations as a listed company, enhance its market value management, and work toward ensuring that its market valuation more accurately reflects its intrinsic value, thereby creating sustained, stable and growing returns for its shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2025, total issued share capital of the Company amounted to 15,698,093,359 shares, of which 10,997,709,919 shares were domestic shares, representing 70.06% of the total issued share capital, and 4,700,383,440 shares were foreign shares, representing 29.94% of the total issued share capital. In respect of foreign shares, China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. (the "Huaneng Group") through its wholly-owned subsidiaries China Huaneng Group Hong Kong Limited and China Huaneng Group Treasury Management (Hong Kong)

Limited, held 472,000,000 and 131,596,000 shares, representing 3.01% and 0.84% of the total issued share capital of the Company, respectively. In respect of domestic shares, Huaneng International Power Development Corporation (the "HIPDC") owned a total of 5,066,662,118 shares, representing 32.28% of the total issued share capital of the Company, while Huaneng Group held 1,555,124,549 shares, representing 9.91% of the total issued share capital of the Company, and through its concerted party, Huaneng Structural Adjustment No.1 Securities Investment Private Fund held 31,994,199 shares, representing 0.20% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Other domestic shareholders held a total of 4,343,929,053 shares, representing 27.67% of the total issued share capital.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not sell, purchase or redeem any shares or other listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) of the Company in the first half of 2025. As of 30 June 2025 and during the reporting period, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

SHAREHOLDINGS OF MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table summarises the shareholdings of the top ten shareholders of the Company's shares as at 30 June 2025:

Name of Shareholders	Total shareholdings as at end of the reporting period	Percentage of shareholding in total issued shares
Harris Island's all David Brail and Committee	F 066 663 110	22.200/
Huaneng International Power Development Corporation	5,066,662,118	32.28%
HKSCC Nominees Limited*	4,203,258,330	26.78%
China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd.	1,555,124,549	9.91%
Hebei Construction & Investment Group Co., Ltd.	493,316,146	3.14%
China Hua Neng Group Hong Kong Limited	472,000,000	3.01%
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited	466,953,720	2.97%
Dalian State-owned Capital Management		
and Operation Co., Ltd.	284,290,000	1.81%
Jiangsu Guoxin Investment Group Limited	258,452,600	1.65%
Liaoning Energy Investment (Group) Limited	244,205,000	1.56%
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited	229,328,839	1.46%

^{*} HKSCC Nominees Limited acts as nominee of holders of H shares securities of the Company and its shareholdings in the Company represent the total number of H shares held by it as nominee of H shareholders.

^{**} Dalian State-owned Capital Management and Operation Co., Ltd. currently pledged 100,000,000 shares.

MATERIAL INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2025, the interests or short positions of persons who were entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at any of the Company's general meetings (excluding the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive) in the shares or underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO") were as follows:

Name of shareholder	Class of shares	Number of shares held (share)	ldentity	Approximate percentage of shareholding in the Company's total issued share capital	Approximate percentage of shareholding in the Company's total issued domestic shares	Approximate percentage of shareholding in the Company's total issued H shares
Huaneng International	Domestic shares	5,066,662,118(L)	Beneficial owner	32.28%(L)	46.07%(L)	-
Power Development Corporation (Note 2)						
China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. (Note 3)	Domestic shares	1,555,124,549(L)	Beneficial owner	9.91%(L)	14.14%(L)	-
China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. (Note 4)	H Shares	603,596,000(L)	Beneficial owner	3.85%(L)	-	12.84%(L)
Shanghai Wisdomshire Asset Management Co., Ltd.	H Shares	520,101,000(L)	Investment manager	3.31%(L)	-	11.07%(L)
Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd.	H Shares	283,313,241(L)	Investment manager	1.80%(L)	-	6.03%(L)
BlackRock, Inc. (Note 5)	H Shares	254,065,595(L)	Controlled corporation	1.62%(L)	-	5.41(L)
		13,448,000(S)	interests	0.09%(S)	-	0.29(S)

Notes:

- (1) The letter "L" denotes a long position, the letter "S" denotes a short position.
- (2) As of 30 June 2025, China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. held 75% direct interests and 25% indirect interests in Huaneng International Power Development Corporation.
- (3) Besides of the 1,555,124,549 domestic shares, China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. holds 31,994,199 shares of domestic shares in the Company through its concert party, Tianjin Huaren Investment Management Co., Ltd. Huaneng Structural Adjustment Fund No. 1.
- (4) China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. holds 472,000,000 H shares through its wholly-owned subsidiary, China Huaneng Group Hong Kong Limited, and holds 131,596,000 H shares through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, China Huaneng Group Treasury Management (Hong Kong) Limited.
- (5) BlackRock, Inc. holds 13,448,000 short positions in the Company through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary BlackRock Holdco 2, Inc., and holds a total of 254,065,595 long positions in the Company through certain holding companies that it directly or indirectly controls

Save as stated above, as at 30 June 2025, in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO, no other persons were recorded to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the equity derivatives of the Company.

DIRECTORS' AND SUPERVISORS' RIGHT TO PURCHASE SHARES

The Company has adopted a code with the standard not lower than that of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules"). The Company has made specific enquiries of all Directors and Supervisors, all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they have complied with the code throughout the first half of 2025.

As at 30 June 2025, none of the Directors, chief executive officer or Supervisors of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and/or debentures (as the case may be) of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Hong Kong Stock Exchange") pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest and short position which any such Director, chief executive officer or Supervisor is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which was required to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which was otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies as contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this announcement, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules and as agreed with the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of the Company has resolved not to distribute dividends for the first half of 2025.

DISCLOSURE OF MATERIAL EVENTS

- On 28 April 2025, Mr. Wang Zhijie tendered a written resignation to the Board due to agerelated reasons, requesting to no longer serve as the Vice Chairman, Director, and members of the relevant special committees of the Board. Mr. Li Haifeng requested to no longer serve as the Director of the Company and members of the relevant special committees of the Board due to a job transfer. On 28 April 2025, and 24 June 2025, the Company convened the eleventh meeting of the eleventh session of the Board and the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company, respectively, to consider and pass a resolution regarding the appointment of new Directors, agreeing to appoint Mr. Li Jin and Mr. Gao Guoqin as nonindependent Directors of the eleventh session of the Board and members of the relevant special committees of the Board.
- 2. On 10 July 2025, the Company convened the thirteenth meeting of the eleventh session of the Board, which considered and passed a resolution regarding the appointment of chief accountant of the Company, agreeing to appoint Mr. Wen Minggang as the chief accountant of the Company.

3. On 28 July 2025, Mr. Huang Lixin tendered a written resignation letter to the Board due to work-related reasons, requesting to no longer serve as a Director, President, and members of the relevant special committees of the Board. On 29 July 2025, the Company convened the fourteenth meeting of the eleventh session of the Board, which considered and passed a resolution regarding the appointment of additional Directors and a resolution on the appointment of the President, agreeing to nominate Mr. Liu Ancang as a candidate for non-independent Director of the eleventh session of the Board and submit the matter to the general meeting for approval. If this resolution is approved by the general meeting of the Company, the Board agrees that Mr. Liu Ancang will serve as a member of the Strategy Committee and Nomination Committee of the Board and appoint Mr. Liu Ancang as the President of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company always places emphasis on corporate governance. After years of experience and practice, the Company has gradually formed a standardised and enhanced governance structure, thereby establishing a sound and effective system that is appropriate to the Company's own development requirements.

During the reporting period, the Company had complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

(a) Code of Corporate Governance

In recent years, the Company adopted the following measures in order to strengthen corporate governance and enhance the Company's operation quality:

(1) Enhancing and improving corporate governance

As a public company listed both domestically and internationally, the Company conscientiously implements the regulatory requirements of the jurisdictions where its securities are listed and responds positively to the supervision of investors. The Company has continuously improved and enhanced its modernized governance system and governance level since its establishment and built a sound corporate governance structure comprising the general meetings, the Board, the supervisory committee and the management. The operating mechanism of the system provides a clear division of powers and responsibilities of the owners, decisionmakers, executives and supervisors facilitates proper performance of their respective duties and offers structural regulation and coordination of those powers, which guarantees the effective exercise of the decision-making rights of the general meetings, the Board, and the supervision rights of the supervisory committee, and ensures efficient and compliant operation and management of the management. After years of exploration and practice, the Company has gradually formed a standardized, sound and effective corporate governance system suitable for its own development.

The Board of the Company has always taken it as its responsibility to improve corporate governance and standardize the operation of "the general meetings, the Board, and the supervisory committee" and has been continuously improving itself and operating in accordance with the law, which has laid down a solid foundation for the sustained, healthy and stable development of the Company. The Company has formulated more than 20 management related rules, including Terms of Reference of the General Meetings, Terms of Reference of the Board, Terms of Reference of the Supervisory Committee, Terms of Reference of the President, Terms of Reference of the Board Committees and Terms of Reference of the Independent Directors, which have clearly stipulated the duties and authorities, the compositions,

proceedings and working procedures each of the shareholders' general meetings, the Board and the supervisory committee. In the first half of 2025, the Company accelerated the construction of a modern corporate governance system with Chinese characteristics, continued to improve the system using the Articles of Association as the foundation, the above terms of references as the key principles and other special rules as the supplementary support. The Company revised the Administrative Provisions Regarding Decision-making on the "Major Decisions, Major Personnel Appointments and Dismissals, Major Projects Arrangement and use of Large sum of Funds", the "List of Decision-Making Authorities and Responsibilities for Major Matters of Huaneng Power International, Inc.", "Market Value Management Regulations" as well as other basic management systems with a view to further improving the system, ensuring the Company's continuous compliance and standard operation, and enhancing market value management. Based on actual circumstances and business development needs, the Company has legally fulfilled the review procedures of the Board and the general meeting, and reviewed and approved a resolution regarding on changing the Company's domicile and amending the Articles of Association. It has formally decided to change its registered address from No. 6, Fuxingmennei Street (Huaneng Building), Xicheng District, Beijing to Huaneng Headquarters, Startup Zone, Hebei Xiong'an New Area.

In the first half of 2025, the Board and all Directors of the Company led the management team and all employees and speared no effort in aspects of reform and development, transformation and upgrading, production and operation and scientific and technological innovation with a deep sense of responsibility and meticulous examination and precise judgement of situations, and with scientific research, careful plan and concerted efforts. Under the leadership of the Board, the Company's production has been safe and the supply of electricity and heat has maintained stable. The Company actively fulfilled its corporate responsibility to provide society with sufficient, reliable and environmentally friendly electricity. The Company always adhered to the rule of law and operation compliance. The Company closely followed changes in laws and regulatory requirements of the country and places where the Company's securities are listed and effectively implemented new regulatory policies and requirements. The Company continuously strengthened the construction of the Board and assisted the independent Directors in diligently performing their duties, endeavored to protect the legitimate rights and interests of minority investors, and promoted the continuous enhancement of corporate governance. The Company continued to strengthen risk prevention and control, solidly promoted internal control management, carry out information disclosure with high quality, proactively strengthened communication and interaction with investors and promoted the construction of ESG system, and built a win-win corporate culture in harmony with stakeholders.

All members of the Board jointly perform the duties of corporate governance. During the reporting period, the Board has included the following in its scope of duties and authority:

- Establishing and reviewing the Company's corporate governance policies and codes, and making such amendments as it deems necessary to ensure the effectiveness of such policies and codes:
- Reviewing and supervising the training and sustained professional development of the Company's Directors and senior management;
- Reviewing and supervising the Company's policies and codes regarding the observance of laws and regulatory requirements;
- Formulating, reviewing and supervising the codes of conduct and compliance handbook applicable to Directors and employees; and
- Reviewing the Company's status on compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices and the disclosures made in the Corporate Governance Report.

(2) Enhancing and improving the information disclosure system

The Company attaches great importance to public information disclosure. The Company has set up an information disclosure committee comprising the secretary to the Board, the chief accountant, the heads of various departments and offices and relevant staff of our information disclosure working group, which is responsible for reviewing the Company's regular reports. The Company has established a system where regular information disclosure meetings are held to report on and discuss the major matters related to the Company's operation to ensure due performance of obligations to disclose information and the meetings are chaired by secretary to the Board and attended by personnels of relevant business departments. The Company appreciates the importance of information disclosure and has formulated and implemented various rules in that regard. Rules which are for the time being in force includes Administrative Provisions on Information Disclosures, Administrative Provisions on Connected Transactions, Administrative Provisions on Holders of Inside Information, Administrative Provisions on Investor Relations, Terms of Reference of the Information Disclosure Committee and Administrative Provisions on the Accountabilities Arising From Significant Errors in the Disclosure of Annual Report, etc. The aforesaid rules and provisions guarantee the Company's standard operation and facilitate the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of information disclosure as well as the quality and transparency of the Company's information disclosure.

The Company strives to maintain investor relations, responds to investor concerns in a timely manner and actively maintains its market image. The relevant departments of the Company prepare and update at any time plans to answer questions concerning market topical issues, the Company's production and operation, business performance, etc., and those plans will be approved by the management of the Company and the authorized representatives of the information disclosure committee and used as basis for any speeches to the public to be made by the Company. In addition, the Company also conducts professional training from time to time to the internal personnels in charge of information disclosure to facilitate the improvement of skills.

(3) Regulating financial management system, strengthening internal control

The integrity of listed companies is largely relied on the quality of its financial statements and the standard operation of financial activities. In the first half of 2025, the Company continued to make a great deal of meticulous efforts in the preparation of financial reports and standard operation of financial activities in the principles of integrity and fairness to shareholders. Details are set out as follows:

In order to strictly follow the accounting regulations, accounting standards and rules, strengthen accounting and relevant supervision and truly and fairly reflect the financial position, operating results and cash flows of the Company, the Company has formulated a complete set of rules and regulations in connected with accounting and financial report preparation, which are regularly revised and refined to ensure timely and effective implementation of the most up-to-date and operative accounting standards and relevant regulatory requirements. In the past three years, the Company revised the Accounting Methods, Administrative Provisions on Asset Impairment Tests, Administrative Provisions on Joint Audit

- of Accounting of the Annual Statements and Provisions on Cost Management, Financial Write-off of Asset Losses, Fuel Accounting Methods for Thermal Power Enterprises, the Management Measures on Financial Accounting Reports, etc. The Board, the supervisory committee and the audit committee of the Company regularly review the financial reports of the Company, and have met the requirement that the chairman, the general president and the treasurer shall be responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the financial reports.
- 2. In respect of fund management, the Company has formulated several administrative regimes such as the Financial Management Regimes, the Fund Management Regimes, the Cash Inflow and Outflow Management Provisions, the Company's Headquarters' Policies on Use of Large Sums of Fund, the Administrative Regimes on Bills of Exchange, the Administrative Regimes on Raised Funds, the Financial Derivative Businesses Management Regimes, the Administrative Regimes on Financing Guarantees and the Administrative Regimes on Funds Exchanges with Affiliated Parties, and so forth. The Articles of Association of the Company also set forth relevant provisions on loans, guarantees, investments and such. As required by China Securities Regulatory Commission ("CSRC") and the Shanghai Stock Exchange ("SSE"), the Company also discloses in the annual reports dedicated reports on whether there is any appropriation of funds by the controlling shareholders and other related parties issued by certified public accountants who have conducted audit on such issues and there has been no irregular appropriation of funds whatsoever. In addition, the Company conducts regularly reconciliations and settlements with related parties in respect of operating fund transactions to ensure the safety of assets.

3. The overall objective of the Company's internal control is to facilitate the implementation of the Company's strategies, and the specific objective is to provide reasonable assurance regarding the Company's operation and management compliance, safety of assets, truthfulness and completeness of its financial reports and related information to promote the overall improvement of the Company's operation efficiency and performance.

The Company comprehensively sorted out internal and external risks and various business processes and completed the Internal Control Manual, which specifies in detail 25 business processes such as revenue, material procurement, fuel management, fund management and 19 soft elements such as organizational structure, human resource management, anti-fraud and risk management from aspects of control environment, risk assessment, control process, information and communication and monitoring. It comprehensively describes the Company's policies and guidelines, clarifies the work procedures and job responsibilities of each position, and standardizes the process of business transactions of the Company to achieve systematic flow. The Company has completed the Internal Control Assessment Manual, which specifies the three-tier internal control assessment management system and the internal control assessment mode of daily assessment and key supervision, and standardizes the internal control assessment procedures, assessment methods, defect definition procedures and criteria, so as to realize the standardization and normalization of internal control assessment. The Company evaluates the effectiveness of the above system every year and periodically revises and improves it to achieve dynamic maintenance of the internal control system.

In response to the identified risks, the Company has stipulated the corresponding control measures in the Internal Control Manual and defined the key control points. Through the implementation of the "One Post, One Responsibility" system, the Company breaks down internal control responsibilities to each position, embedding internal controls into job duties and fostering a culture where all employees actively participate in strengthening internal controls. The Company adopted an internal control approach of combining daily monitoring and key inspections by setting up internal control assessors in every department of the headquarters and branches under the company, carrying out internal control assessments on a monthly basis and establishing a three-level assessment quality supervision mechanism to follow up on the implementation of internal control system by the Company, regional companies and grass-roots units in real time. Every year, the company selects some units to carry out key internal control inspections, identifies problems and rectifies those problems right away, which further strengthens the implementation of internal control. The Company insists that internal control evaluators should be licensed in the sense that those evaluators shall complete relevant trainings and pass the examinations before qualifying as internal control evaluators, which has strongly promoted the improvement of the professional skills of the internal control personnels. In the first half of 2025, the Company successfully completed six months of daily internal control evaluation and key internal control inspections of certain units, which effectively protected and promoted the sustained and healthy development of the Company's businesses and realized smooth operation of the internal control system. The Company carried out targeted internal control trainings every year based on latest requirements of and changes in, best practices learnt from and common problems facing the business and daily management. It effectively promoted the overall enhancement of internal control awareness, and optimized the internal control environment.

The internal control management department, internal audit department and external auditors report to the Audit Committee of the Board on a regular basis regarding the Company's internal control, which ensures the continuous and effective operation of the internal control system. The Company continuously improves the internal control assessment system, formulates the Measures for Internal Control Target Assessment, carries out internal control target assessment every year, and delivers the assessment results in a timely manner, which strongly guides all units at all levels to pay attention to the quality of the internal control work, and practically realizes the high-level objective of improving management through internal control.

After a full and thorough assessment, the management of the Company is of the view that the Company's internal control system is sound and effective.

(b) Securities transactions by Directors

As a public company, the Company has strictly complied with the relevant restrictive provisions on securities transactions by directors imposed by the regulatory authorities of places of listing and we insist on complying with the strictest provision, that is, abiding by the strictest provision among listing places. We have adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the model code for securities dealings by Directors of the Company. In the first half of 2025, in accordance with Management Rules in respect of the Shares of the Company held by the Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of Huaneng Power International, Inc, the Company prohibited those who are in possession of securities transaction related inside information using inside information in securities trading; and sets out detailed rules for those who are in possession of inside information, which was used as the standard code for the trading of securities by directors of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, Supervisors and senior

management of the Company, as of the date of this announcement, none of the Director, Supervisors and senior management holds any shares of the Company and there is no material contract in which the Directors, Supervisors and senior management directly or indirectly have material interests.

(c) Board

According to the Articles of Association, the Board of the Company consists of 15 directors (with one vacancy at present). At the eleventh session of the Board, Mr. Wang Kui serves as the Chairman. The executive Director of the Company is Mr. Wang Kui. The non-executive Directors of the Company are Mr. Du Daming, Mr. Zhou Yi, Mr. Li Lailong, Mr. Li Jin, Mr. Cao Xin, Mr. Gao Guogin, Mr. Ding Xuchun, Mr. Wang Jianfeng. The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Mr. Zhang Shouwen and Ms. Dang Ying. Mr. Wang Zhijie, the Vice Chairman, tendered his resignation from the positions of Vice Chairman, Director, and member of the relevant special committees of the Board due to age-related reasons on 28 April 2025; Mr. Li Haifeng, a Director, tendered his resignation from the positions of Director and member of the relevant special committees of the Board due to a job transfer on 28 April 2025; Mr. Huang Lixin, a Director, tendered his resignation from the positions of Director and member of the relevant special committees of the Board on 28 July 2025, due to work-related adjustments. The resignation applications of the aforementioned three Directors took effect upon delivery to the Board of the Company. The Company convened the general meeting on 24 June 2025, and considered and passed a resolution regarding the appointment of new Directors, agreeing to appoint Mr. Li Jin and Mr. Gao Guogin as Directors of the Company's eleventh session of the Board.

During the reporting period, the Board of the Company held a total of 3 meetings, including regular and irregular meetings. The attendance of the Directors is set out in this interim report.

Details of the attendance of directors at the Board meetings are as follows:

	Number of meetings	Number of meetings	Number of meetings	
Name	required to be attended	attended in person	attended by proxy	Rate of attendance
Executive Director				
Wang Kui	3	3	0	100%
Non-executive Directors				
Du Daming	3	3	0	100%
Zhou Yi	3	2	1	100%
Li Lailong	3	2	1	100%
Li Jin	0	0	0	Not applicable
Cao Xin	3	2	1	100%
Gao Guoqin	0	0	0	Not applicable
Ding Xuchun	3	1	2	100%
Wang Jianfeng	3	3	0	100%
Independent non-executive Directors				
Xia Qing	3	3	0	100%
He Qiang	3	3	0	100%
Zhang Liying	3	3	0	100%
Zhang Shouwen	3	2	1	100%
Dang Ying	3	3	0	100%
Former Directors				
Wang Zhijie	1	0	1	100%
Huang Lixin	3	3	0	100%
Li Haifeng	1	1	0	100%

As stated in the previous corporate governance reports, the Company's Articles of Association set out in detail the duties and operational procedures of the Board (please refer to the Company's Articles of Association for details). The Board of the Company holds regular meetings to hear the reports on the Company's operating results and makes timely decisions. Material decisions on operation shall be discussed and approved by the Board, ad hoc meetings may be held if necessary. Board meetings include regular meetings and ad hoc meetings. Regular meetings of the Board include annual meeting, first quarterly meeting, half-yearly meeting and third quarterly meeting.

All arrangements for regular meetings have been notified to all Directors at least 14 days prior to the meeting and the Company has ensured that each Director thoroughly understood the agenda of the meeting and fully expressed his/her opinions, while all independent non-executive Directors actively followed the latest regulatory requirements and considered relevant proposals at meetings held just for independent non-executive Directors according to the Measures for the Management of Independent Directors of Listed Companies. Minutes have been taken for all the meetings and filed at the Board office.

Moreover, the independent non-executive Directors of the Company have submitted their independent non-executive director confirmation letters of 2024 according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Directors believe that they have complied with the laws and regulations, and provisions of the Articles of Association, and have actively performed the duties faithfully and diligently. Apart from regular and ad hoc meetings, the Directors of the Company obtain timely and adequate information by participating in the chairman's special meetings to monitor the management's objectives and strategies, understand the company's financial

position and operating results, and the entering into of and implementation of important agreements. The Directors reviewed the reports, data etc. of the Company regularly to understand the situation on production operation of the Company. Through onsite investigation, the independent Directors provided practical resolutions to the Company. All committees under the Board actively carried out works and provided recommendations and policies which formed the basis of scientific policies for the Board.

During the period when the Board was not in session, the chairman discharged part of the duties of the Board, including but not limited to (1) to examine and approve the proposals in respect of establishing or cancelling development and construction projects; (2) to examine and approve proposals of the in relation to the appointment, removal and transfer of managers of various departments of the Company and managers of external branches; (3) to examine and approve plans on the use of significant funds; (4) to examine and approve proposals on the establishment or cancellation of branch companies or branch organs; and (5) to examine and approve other major issues.

The Board has summarised the work during the reporting period taking into consideration of opinions of the supervisory committee and the senior management of the Company. The Board is of the opinion that it has effectively fulfilled its duties to safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Mr. Wang Kui (Chairman of the Board), Mr. Huang Lixin (Director), Mr. He Qiang (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Zhang Shouwen (independent non-executive Director) attended the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company.

(d) Chairman and President

The Company shall have a Chairman and a President who shall perform their duties respectively and separately according to the Articles of Association.

The division of duties of the Board and the senior management remained the same as disclosed in the previous Corporate Governance Reports.

(e) Non-executive Directors

According to the Articles of Association, the term of office of each member of the Board of the Company shall not exceed three years (inclusive) and the members may be eligible for re-election. However, the term of office of independent non-executive Directors shall not exceed six years (inclusive) according to the relevant regulations of the China Securities Regulatory Commission.

The respective terms of office of the non-executive Directors are as follows:

Names of the non-executive Directors	Terms of office
	• •
Du Daming	2023.12.5–2026
Zhou Yi	2023.12.5–2026
Li Lailong	2023.12.5–2026
Li Jin	2025.6.24–2026
Cao Xin	2023.12.5–2026
Gao Guoqin	2025.6.24–2026
Ding Xuchun	2023.12.5–2026
Wang Jianfeng	2023.12.5–2026

(f) Directors' Remuneration

According to the relevant PRC laws and the Articles of Association, the Board has established the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee which operates in accordance with the Terms of Reference of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and is mainly responsible for studying the appraisal standards of the Directors and senior management personnel of the Company, conducting appraisals and making proposals; responsible for studying and examining the remuneration policies and proposals of the Directors and senior management personnel of the Company. The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee will review and submit annual total wages to the Board annually. Each of the executive Directors has signed a director's service contract with the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The eleventh session of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee comprises of seven Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Shouwen, Mr. Li Jin, Mr. Gao Guoqin, Mr. Ding Xuchun, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Ms. Dang Ying; among whom Mr. Zhang Shouwen, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Ms. Dang Ying are independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Zhang Shouwen is the chairman of the committee. Mr. Wang Zhijie and Mr. Li Haifeng tendered their resignation to the Board of the Company on 28 April 2025, resigning from their positions as members of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board operates in accordance with the Terms of Reference of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee convened the first meeting in 2025 on 24 March 2025, at which the Company's arrangement for the total wage budget in 2025 was reviewed

and approved. In the second half of 2025, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee will carry out the work according to the actual situation and the Terms of Reference for the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board at appropriate time.

During the reporting period, the attendance of meetings of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Company's Board was as follows:

Name of meeting	Date	Members who attended in person	Members who attended by proxy
The 2025 First Meeting of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Eleventh Session of the Board	24 March 2025	Mr. Zhang Shouwen, Mr. Wang Zhijie, Mr. Li Haifeng, Mr. Ding Xuchun, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Ms. Dang Ying	

(g) Nomination of Directors

According to the relevant laws of the PRC and the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association, the Board of the Company has established the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee operates under the Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee and is mainly responsible for studying the selection standards and procedures for candidates for Directors and senior management personnel of the Company according to the directors' qualifications under the Companies Law and Securities Law and the needs of the operational management of the Company, and making proposals thereon to the Board; searching for qualified candidates for directors and suitable persons for senior management personnel on a wide basis; and examining the candidates for directors and suitable persons for senior management personnel and making proposals thereon. In order to achieve sustainable and balanced development, the Company has formulated the Board Member Diversity Policy. According to the relevant regulations, when determining the composition of the Board,

the Company will consider the diversity of Board members from multiple perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and service tenure. The nomination of Directors by the Board shall be based on meritocracy only, taking into account the diversity requirements of Board members. Currently, the composition of the Board members of the Company has taken into account the operation and management of the Company and relevant regulatory requirements. The nomination of the candidates of the Directors is mainly made by the shareholders. The nominations, after examination of the relevant qualification by the Nomination Committee, will be submitted to the Board. The President of the Company is appointed by the Board and the candidates for the Vice President and other management are nominated by the President. Such nominations, after examination of the relevant qualification by the Nomination Committee, will be submitted to the Board for approval.

The eleventh session of the Nomination Committee of the Board currently comprises of six Directors, namely Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. Cao Xin, Mr. Wang Jianfeng, Mr. He Qiang, Mr. Zhang Shouwen and Ms. Dang Ying, among whom Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. He Qiang, Mr. Zhang Shouwen and Ms. Dang Ying are independent non-

executive Directors and Mr. Xia Qing is the chairman of the committee. Mr. Huang Lixin tendered his resignation to the Board of the Company on 28 July 2025, resigning from his position as a member of the Nomination Committee.

During the reporting period, the attendance of meeting of the Nomination Committee of the Board of the Company was as follows:

Name of meeting	Date	Members who attended in person	Members who attended by proxy
The 2025 First Meeting of the Nomination Committee of the Eleventh Session of the Board	27 April 2025	Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. Huang Lixin, Mr. Cao Xin, Mr. Wang Jianfeng, Mr. He Qiang, Mr. Zhang Shouwen and Ms. Dang Ying	-
(b) Appointment of Aud	itoro	(4) the performance of the Com	nany's independent

(h) Appointment of Auditors

BDO Limited and BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP were appointed as the Company's international auditor and PRC auditor for the year 2025, respectively.

(i) Audit Committee

According to the requirements of the regulatory authorities of the jurisdictions where the securities of the Company are listed and the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association, the Board has established the Audit Committee. Governed by the Terms of the Reference of the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is mainly responsible for assisting the Board in the supervision of:

- the accuracy of the Company's financial statements;
- (2) the Company's compliance with laws and regulations;
- (3) the qualification and independence of the Company's independent auditors;

- (4) the performance of the Company's independent auditors and internal auditing departments of the Company; and
- (5) the control and management of the related party transactions of the Company.

The Company convenes four regular meetings of the Audit Committee of the Board each year, at least two of which will be conducted with the Company's external auditors separately to listen to reports on audit planning, work arrangement and audit works generally. The Board has formulated the Management Rules on Whistle-Blowing through Hotlines and Mailboxes, and, pursuant to which the Audit Committee will be responsible for the management of the whistle-blowing hotlines and mailboxes.

The eleventh session of the Audit Committee of the Board comprises of five independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Dang Ying, Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying and Mr. Zhang Shouwen, among whom Ms. Dang Ying is the chairman of the committee.

During the reporting period, the Audit Committee held three meetings. As per Audit Committee's duties, the Audit Committee has communicated separately with the Company's counsels, external auditors, management and the relevant functional departments of the Company. With the understandings on the applicable laws and regulations of those jurisdictions in which the shares of the Company are listed, the

anti-fraud position in the Company, the recruitment of staff, the implementation and execution of internal control mechanisms, the audit work carried out by external auditors and the responsible officers of the audit department, the Audit Committee has rendered their views and suggestions.

During the reporting period, the attendance of meetings of members of the Audit Committee was as follows:

Name of meeting	Date	Members who attended in person	Members who attended by proxy
The 2025 First Meeting of the Audit Committee of the Eleventh Session of the Board	25 February 2025	Ms. Dang Ying, Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Mr. Zhang Shouwen	
The 2025 Second Meeting of the Audit Committee of the Eleventh Session of the Board	24 March 2025	Ms. Dang Ying, Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Mr. Zhang Shouwen	-
The 2025 Third Meeting of the Audit Committee of the Eleventh Session of the Board	27 April 2025	Ms. Dang Ying, Mr. Xia Qing, Mr. He Qiang, Ms. Zhang Liying, Mr. Zhang Shouwen	

(j) Responsibility assumed by the Directors in relation to the financial statements

The Directors of the Company confirm that they shall assume the relevant responsibility in relation to the preparation of the financial statements of the Company, ensure that the preparation of the financial statements of the Company complies with the relevant laws and regulations and the applicable accounting standards and also warrant that the financial statements of the Company will be published in a timely manner.

(k) Senior management's interests in shares

None of the members of the senior management of the Company holds any shares of the Company.

(I) Strategy Committee

For compliance with the relevant requirements of the regulations in the jurisdictions where the shares of the Company are listed as well as the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board has established a Strategy Committee. Governed by the Terms of the Reference of the Strategy Committee, the Strategy Committee is primarily responsible for:

- (1) reviewing and advising on the Company's long-term strategic development plan;
- (2) reviewing and advising on the major fund raising proposals that need to be approved by the Board;
- (3) reviewing and advising on the major production and operating projects that need to be approved by the Board;
- (4) studying and advising on the matters that would significantly affect the development of the Company;
- (5) examining the implementation of the abovementioned matters;
- (6) comprehensive risk management of the Company to improve the Company's overall risk resistance; and
- (7) other matters as requested by the Board.

The eleventh session of the Strategy Committee of the Board currently comprises of six Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Kui, Mr. Li Jin, Mr. Du Daming, Mr. Li Lailong, Mr. Xia Qing and Ms. Zhang Liying, of whom Mr. Xia Qing and Ms. Zhang Liying are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Wang Kui is the chairman of the Strategy Committee. Mr. Wang Zhijie tendered his resignation to the Board of the Company on 28 April 2025, resigning from his position as a member of the Strategy Committee. Mr. Huang Lixin tendered his resignation to the Board of the Company on 28 July 2025, resigning from his position as a member of the Strategy Committee.

During the reporting period, the Strategy Committee of the Company did not hold any meetings.

(m) Directors' and senior management's training

The Company organizes its Directors and Supervisors to attend the trainings provided by regulatory authorities every year. During the reporting period, the Directors and Supervisors of the Company attended training according to regulatory requirements. A total of 20 participants including Directors, Supervisors and senior management attended various professional trainings during the first half of the year.

The Company organizes a briefing by the Company's legal adviser every six months to all independent Directors of the Audit Committee of the Company on the updated regulatory laws, the application of relevant systems to the Company and the Company's performance of the rules and regulations in places where the Company's shares are listed.

The Company attaches importance to the training and continuing development of senior management. The Company organizes members of senior management to participate the training courses provided by relevant State authorities, industrial managing authorities and industrial associations.

REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The interim results of 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company. In addition, the Company's auditor, BDO Limited, has reviewed the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2025 ("interim financial information") in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410 Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 30 June 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries were not involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or claim of material importance was pending or threatened against or by the Company as far as the Company is aware.

DOCUMENTS FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the interim results report for 2025 will be available at the following addresses and websites:

PRC: Huaneng Power International, Inc.

Huaneng Building

6 Fuxingmennei Street, Xicheng District, Beijing

The People's Republic of China

Telephone Number: (8610) 6322 6999

Fax Number: (8610) 6322 6888

Hong Kong: Wonderful Sky Financial Group Limited

9th Floor, Central Plaza,

99 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong

Telephone Number: (852) 2851 1038

Fax Number: (852) 3102 0210

Websites of the Company: http://www.hpi.com.cn

By Order of the Board

Huaneng Power International, Inc.

Wang Kui

Chairman

As at the date of this announcement, the Directors of the Company are:

Wang Kui (Executive Director)
Du Daming (Non-executive Director)
Zhou Yi (Non-executive Director)
Li Lailong (Non-executive Director)
Li Jin (Non-executive Director)
Cao Xin (Non-executive Director)
Gao Guoqin (Non-executive Director)
Ding Xuchun (Non-executive Director)
Wang Jianfeng (Non-executive Director)

Beijing, the PRC 30 July 2025 Xia Qing (Independent Non-executive Director)
He Qiang (Independent Non-executive Director)
Zhang Liying (Independent Non-executive Director)
Zhang Shouwen (Independent Non-executive Director)
Dang Ying (Independent Non-executive Director)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT



Tel: +852 2218 8288 Fax: +852 2815 2239 www.bdo.com.hk

電話: +852 2218 8288 傳真: +852 2815 2239 www.bdo.com.hk 25th Floor Wing On Centre 111 Connuaght Road Central Hong Kong

香港干諾道中111號 永安中心25樓

To the Board of Directors of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (Established in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

INTRODUCTION

We have reviewed the interim condensed consolidated financial statements set out on pages 39 to 109, which comprises the condensed consolidated statement of financial position of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") as at 30 June 2025 and the related condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income, condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity and condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the six-month period then ended, and notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information (the "interim condensed consolidated financial statements"). The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require the preparation of a report on interim financial information to be in compliance with the relevant provisions thereof and International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting" ("IAS 34") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of this interim condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with IAS 34. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this interim condensed consolidated financial statements based on our review. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410 "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity" issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

CONCLUSION

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that interim condensed consolidated financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

OTHER MATTER

The comparative condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income, condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity and condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months period ended 30 June 2024 and the relevant explanatory notes included in these condensed consolidated financial statements were extracted from the interim financial information of the Group for six months period ended 30 June 2024 reviewed by another auditor who expressed an unmodified conclusion on the interim financial information on 30 July 2024. The comparative condensed consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 were extracted from the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 audited by the same auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 25 March 2025.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. P05443 Hong Kong, 29 July 2025

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (UNAUDITED)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

		As at As at 31 Decemb		
	Notes	30 June 2025	2024	
ASSETS				
Non-current assets				
Property, plant and equipment	5	406,888,506	402,936,461	
Right-of-use assets		26,071,815	24,682,142	
Investments in associates and joint ventures		25,239,557	24,672,883	
Investment properties		575,694	591,512	
Other equity instrument investments	6	590,920	589,920	
Power generation licences		4,505,556	4,267,763	
Mining rights		1,609,115	1,609,115	
Deferred income tax assets	18	2,218,011	3,155,100	
Derivative financial assets		5,260	38,105	
Goodwill	7	15,030,364	14,389,046	
Other non-current assets	8	22,644,937	22,345,178	
Total non-current assets		505,379,735	499,277,225	
Current assets				
Inventories		11,082,882	13,444,394	
Other receivables and assets	9	13,380,727	14,546,074	
Accounts and notes receivable	10	49,505,779	48,073,224	
Contract assets		42,246	47,863	
Derivative financial assets		30,600	256,065	
Bank balances and cash	23	23,129,652	19,932,035	
Total current assets		97,171,886	96,299,655	
Total assets		602,551,621	595,576,880	

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (UNAUDITED)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

	Notes	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Equity attributable to equity holders of the			
Company			
Share capital		15,698,093	15,698,093
Other equity instruments	11	80,073,167	80,170,696
Capital surplus		23,558,319	23,710,857
Surplus reserves		8,140,030	8,140,030
Reserve funds		1,191,744	771,124
Currency translation differences		377,438	(457,669)
Retained earnings		19,266,367	15,761,198
		148,305,158	143,794,329
Non-controlling interests		69,966,925	66,784,717
Total equity		218,272,083	210,579,046
Non-current liabilities			
Long-term loans	12	151,966,482	151,827,548
Long-term bonds	13	43,515,551	37,248,235
Lease liabilities		8,524,174	7,429,666
Deferred income tax liabilities	18	2,479,967	3,010,015
Derivative financial liabilities		575,836	271,621
Other non-current liabilities	14	6,796,145	6,472,682
Total non-current liabilities		213,858,155	206,259,767

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (UNAUDITED)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

		As at As at 31 Decemb		
	Notes	30 June 2025	2024	
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (Continued)				
Current liabilities				
Accounts payable and other liabilities	15	57,249,266	62,033,482	
Contract liabilities		573,373	3,528,664	
Taxes payable		2,459,295	2,235,283	
Dividends payable		4,876,803	428,446	
Derivative financial liabilities		563,430	176,614	
Short-term bonds	16	7,009,559	8,017,110	
Short-term loans	17	58,020,993	61,165,908	
Current portion of long-term loans	12	35,010,863	31,950,932	
Current portion of long-term bonds	13	3,838,632	8,447,643	
Current portion of lease liabilities		693,352	670,924	
Current portion of other non-current liabilities	14	125,817	83,061	
Total current liabilities		170,421,383	178,738,067	
Total liabilities		384,279,538	384,997,834	
Total equity and liabilities		602,551,621	595,576,880	

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

	Notes	For the six months	ended 30 June 2024
Operating revenue Tax and levies on operations	4	112,032,083 (1,105,083)	118,805,858 (899,578)
		110,927,000	117,906,280
Operating expenses, net			
Fuel		(58,304,665)	(68,114,025)
Maintenance		(2,058,038)	(1,860,524)
Depreciation	20	(13,559,666)	(12,735,237)
Labour		(9,018,624)	(8,684,645)
Purchase of electricity		(3,687,728)	(5,235,914)
(Provision)/reversal of credit losses on financial and		(2.702)	10 400
contract assets Others, net	20	(3,792) (6,673,976)	19,489 (6,801,176)
	20		
Total operating expenses		(93,306,489)	(103,412,032)
Profit from operations		17,620,511	14,494,248
Interest income		186,725	298,564
Financial expenses, net			
Interest expense	20	(3,501,817)	(4,041,700)
Exchange loss and bank charges, net		(64,968)	(234,721)
Total financial expenses, net		(3,566,785)	(4,276,421)
Share of profits and losses of associates and joint			
ventures		764,893	858,119
Other investment (loss)/income		(12)	1,634
Profit before income tax expense		15,005,332	11,376,144
Income tax expense	21	(2,387,840)	(1,945,680)
Net profit		12,617,492	9,430,464

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

	For the six months e	ended 30 June
	2025	2024
Other comprehensive income, net of tax		
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: Fair value changes of other equity instrument investments	_	_
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of joint ventures and associates Income tax effect	52,201 -	(184,033) –
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:		
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of joint ventures and associates Cash flow hedges:	(9,808)	13,721
Effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging instruments Reclassification adjustments for losses included in	(539,025)	640,649
profit or loss	(44,597)	(88,403)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations Income tax effect	712,582 99,216	(120,157) (93,882)
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of		
tax	270,569	167,895
Total comprehensive income for the period	12,888,061	9,598,359

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

		For the six months	ended 30 June
	Note	2025	2024
Net profit attributable to:			
 Equity holders of the Company 		9,577,971	7,774,991
– Non-controlling interests		3,039,521	1,655,473
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
 Equity holders of the Company 		9,986,669	7,840,389
 Non-controlling interests 		2,901,392	1,757,970
Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company (expressed in RMB per share)			
– Basic and diluted	22	0.52	0.40

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

		Total equity	210,579,046	12,617,492	42,393	(484,406)	712,582	12,888,061	(4,768,581)	11,997,703	(12,000,000)	(1,511,226)	839,434	247.646	1	218,272,083
		Non- controlling interests	66,784,717 2	3,039,521	1	(15,604)	(122,525)	2,901,392	(230,096)	1	'	1	810,912	•	1	2 526'996'69
		Total	143,794,329	9,577,971	42,393	(468,802)	835,107	699'986'6	(4,238,485)	11,997,703	(12,000,000)	(1,511,226)	28,522	247.646		148,305,158
		Retained earnings	15,761,198	8,164,274	,	1	1	8,164,274	(4,238,485)	•	•	1	1		(420,620)	19,266,367
		Currency translation differences	(457,669)	1		1	835,107	835,107	1	•	•	1	1	•	1	377,438
		Reserve	771,124	1		1	•	1	1	•	1	1	1		420,620	1,191,744
		Surplus	8,140,030	1		1	1	'	1	•	•	1	1	•	1	8,140,030
he Company		Subtotal	23,710,857	1	42,393	(468,802)	•	(426,409)	1 1	(2,297)	1	1	28,522	247.646		23,558,319
ty holders of t		Other capital reserve	(929,520)	1		1	•	'	1 1	(2,297)	1	1	28,522	247.646		(685,649)
Attributable to equity holders of the Company	urplus	Other reserve in other comprehensive income	(29,058)	•	(808'6)	1	•	(808'6)	1	•	ı	1	1		1	(98,866)
Att	Capital surplus	Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	185,446	1	52,201	1	•	52,201	1	•	•	1	1	- 1	1	237,647
		Hedging c reserve	(226,693)	i.	1	(468,802)	•	(468,802)	1	•	•	1		•	1	(695,495)
		Share premium	24,770,682	1		1	•		1	•	•	1	1		1	24,770,682
		Other equity instruments	80,170,696	1,413,697	1	1	•	1,413,697	1	12,000,000	(12,000,000)	(1,511,226)	1		1	80,073,167
		Share capital	15,698,093	1	1	1	•	'	1	•	•	1	1	•	1	15,698,093
			Balance as at 1 January 2025 Profit for the six months ended 30 June	2025	Uther comprehensive income: Share of other comprehensive income/ (expense) of investees – accounted for under the equity method, net of tax Changes in fair value of effective portion	and reclassification of cash flow hedges, net of tax	Currency translation differences	Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the six months ended 30 June 2025	Dividends relating to 2024	Issue of other equity instruments	Redemption of other equity instruments Distribution of other equity instruments	(Note 11)	Capital injections from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries	Share of other capital reserve of investees accounted for under the equity method	Transfer from retained earnings	Balance as at 30 June 2025

The notes on pages 50 to 109 are an integral part of this unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information.

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

						Attributable to equity holders of the Company	ty holders of th	e Company							
					Capital surplus	surplus									
	Share capital	Other equity instruments	Share premium	Hedging	Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	Other reserve in other comprehensive income	Other capital reserve	Subtotal	Surplus	Reserve funds	Currency translation differences	Retained earnings	Total	Non- controlling interests	Total equity
Balance as at 1 January 2024	15,698,093	79,626,169	24,770,682	(451,936)	281,472	(882'69)	(959,254)	23,571,376	8,140,030	479,264	(366,687)	11,614,870	138,763,115	40,591,363	179,354,478
2024	1	1,457,861	1	I	I	1	1	1	1	1	1	6,317,130	7,774,991	1,655,473	9,430,464
Other comprehensive income: Share of other comprehensive (expense)/ income of investees – accounted for					(00,00)	, , ,		(100					000		(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
under the equity method, net of tax Changes in fair value of effective portion and reclassification of cash flow hedges,	I	ı	Г	Г	(184,033)	13',/21	I	(718'0/1)	I	ı	I	1	(1/0,312)	I	(1/0,312)
net of tax Currency translation differences	1 1	1 1	1 1	449,944	1 1	1 1	1 1	449,944	1 1	1 1	(214,234)	1 1	449,944 (214,234)	8,420 94,077	458,364 (120,157)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the six months ended 30 June 2024	1	1,457,861	 	449,944	(184,033)	13,721	1	279,632		'	(214,234)	6,317,130	7,840,389	1,757,970	9,598,359
Dividends relating to 2023		ı	1	ı	Г	ı	ı	ı	1	ı	ı	(3,139,619)	(3,139,619)	(179,326)	(3,318,945)
Instruments (Note 11) Capital injections from non-controlling	I	(1,513,993)	I	Ī	1	I	I	I	1	Ī	Ī	I	(1,513,993)	I	(1,513,993)
interests of subsidiaries Share of other capital reserve of investees	ı	I	I	ı	I	T	1	1	1	1	I	1	I	86,013	86,013
accounted for under the equity method	l	I	I	I	I	I	46,473	46,473	ı	I	I	1	46,473	2,785	49,258
Transfer from retained earnings Others	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	(39,418)	(39,418)	1 1	397,814	1 1	(397,814)	(39,418)	1 1	(39,418)
Balance as at 30 June 2024	15,698,093	79,570,037	24,770,682	(1,992)	97,439	(55,867)	(952,199)	23,858,063	8,140,030	877,078	(580,921)	14,394,567	141,956,947	42,258,805	184,215,752

The notes on pages 50 to 109 are an integral part of this unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information.

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

		For the six months ended 30 June	
	Notes	2025	2024
OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Profit before income tax expense		15,005,332	11,376,144
Adjustments to reconcile profit before income tax expense to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	20	12,862,233	12,218,980
Depreciation of investment property	20	12,880	13,830
Depreciation of right-of-use assets Provision for impairment losses on property, plant	20	684,553	502,427
and equipment Provision for impairment losses on other non-	5	254,682	_
current assets	20	1,962	543
Amortisation of other non-current assets Provision/(reversal) of credit losses on financial and	20	76,830	73,738
contract assets (Reversal of write-down of)/write-down of		3,792	(19,489)
inventories to net realisable value	20	(211)	136
Other investment loss/(income)		12	(1,634)
Net (gain)/loss on disposals of non-current assets Share of profits less losses of associates and joint	20	(104,944)	75,366
ventures		(764,893)	(858,119)
Interest income		(186,725)	(298,564)
Interest expense	20	3,501,817	4,041,700
Others		3,975	(129,792)
Changes in working capital:			
Inventories		2,378,756	(929,979)
Other receivables and assets		1,065,303	(380,057)
Accounts and notes receivable		(1,425,712)	1,284,018
Contract assets		5,617	2,512
Restricted cash		6,014	70,183
Accounts payable and other liabilities		(160,682)	(563,995)
Contract liabilities		(2,955,291)	(2,732,731)
Taxes payable		2,155,900	920,451
Interest received		186,725	298,564
Income tax expense paid		(1,859,700)	(1,361,296)
Net cash provided by operating activities		30,748,225	23,602,936

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

	For the six ended 30	
	2025	2024
INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and		
equipment	(22,323,449)	(21,682,248)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and		
equipment, land use rights and other non-current		
assets	278,596	308,216
Cash dividends received	298,659	350,526
Capital injections for investments in associates and		
joint ventures	(51,800)	(522,112)
Cash paid for acquiring subsidiaries	_	(22,842)
Proceeds from disposal of associates	5,571	14,386
Others	(10,927)	424
Net cash used in investing activities	(21,803,350)	(21,553,650)

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

		For the six months ended 30 June		
	Note	2025	2024	
FINANCING ACTIVITIES				
Issuance of short-term bonds		13,800,000	15,800,000	
Repayments of short-term bonds		(14,800,000)	(11,900,000)	
Proceeds from new short-term loans		36,761,276	39,178,069	
Repayments of short-term loans		(39,900,835)	(38,321,175)	
Proceeds from new long-term loans		22,772,651	23,648,772	
Repayments of long-term loans		(20,719,761)	(20,183,903)	
Issuance of long-term bonds		7,500,000	6,500,000	
Repayments of long-term bonds		(5,729,234)	(4,800,000)	
Interest paid		(5,492,419)	(6,093,394)	
Proceeds from the issuance of other equity				
instruments		12,000,000	-	
Redemption of other equity instruments		(12,000,000)	-	
Net capital injection from non-controlling interests of				
subsidiaries		716,166	86,013	
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of				
subsidiaries		(320,225)	(231,358)	
Lease payments		(486,600)	(1,933,536)	
Others		138,903	231,278	
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities		(5,760,078)	1,980,766	
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,net		161,099	146,055	
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		3,345,896	4,176,107	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period		18,601,106	16,150,635	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE				
PERIOD	23	21,947,002	20,326,742	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

1. COMPANY ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Huaneng Power International, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") as a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company on 30 June 1994. The registered address of the Company has been changed from Huaneng Building, 6 Fuxingmennei Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC to Huaneng Headquaters, New Area Pilot Block, Xiongan, Hebei Province, the PRC. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") are principally engaged in the generation and sale of electric power to the respective regional or provincial grid companies in the PRC, Republic of Singapore ("Singapore") and Islamic Republic of Pakistan ("Pakistan"). The Company conducts its business in Singapore through SinoSing Power Pte Ltd. ("SinoSing Power") and its subsidiaries and in Pakistan through Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Hong Kong) Energy Co., Ltd. ("Hong Kong Energy") and its subsidiaries.

The directors consider Huaneng International Power Development Corporation ("HIPDC") and China Huaneng Group Co., Ltd. ("Huaneng Group") as the controlling shareholders of the Company, with HIPDC being the parent company and Huaneng Group being the ultimate parent company of the Company, respectively. Both HIPDC and Huaneng Group are incorporated in the PRC.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

This unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information ("interim financial information") for the six months ended 30 June 2025 has been prepared in accordance with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and International Accounting Standard ("IAS") 34 "Interim Financial Reporting". This interim financial information should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB"). This interim financial information was approved for issuance on 29 July 2025.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim financial information are consistent with those applied in the preparation of the Group's annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, except for the adoption of the revised IFRSs effective as of 1 January 2025. Details of any changes in accounting policies are set out in Note 3.

The preparation of interim financial information in conformity with IAS 34 requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses on a year to date basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

This interim financial information contains condensed consolidated financial statements and selected explanatory notes. The notes include an explanation of events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the Group since the 2024 annual financial statements. The interim condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto do not include all the information required for a full set of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The financial information relating to the financial year ended 31 December 2024 that is included in the interim financial information as comparative information does not constitute the Company's annual consolidated financial statements for that financial year but is derived from those financial statements. The annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 are available from the Company's registered office. The predecessor auditors have expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated 25 March 2025.

As at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025, a portion of the Group's funding requirements for capital expenditures was partially satisfied by short-term financing. Consequently, as at 30 June 2025, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately Renminbi Yuan ("RMB") 73.249 billion. Taking into consideration of the Group's undrawn available banking facilities exceeded RMB420.0 billion as at 30 June 2025, the Group expects to refinance certain of its short-term loans and bonds and also considers alternative sources of financing, where applicable and when needed. Therefore, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due within the next twelve months and accordingly, the interim financial information is prepared on a going concern basis.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements are consistent with those applied in the preparation of the Group's annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, except for the adoption of the following amendments to standards for the first time for the current period's financial information.

Amendments to IAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability

The nature and impact of the amendments to standards that are applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments did not have any material impact on the Group's interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by major products and/or service lines of revenue recognition. The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated operating revenue to the Group's reportable segments (Note 4(b)).

For the six months ended 30 June 2025	PRC power segment	Overseas power segment (Note i)	All other segments	Inter– segment revenue	Total
– Sales of power and heat	98,369,423	9,505,932	-	-	107,875,355
 Sales of coal and raw materials 	578,398	1,579	-	_	579,977
– Port service	-	-	326,236	(222,830)	103,406
– Transportation service	-	-	105,369	(57,737)	47,632
– Lease income	48,892	604,323	2 200	-	653,215
– Others	1,142,827	1,627,373	2,298		2,772,498
Total	100,139,540	11,739,207	433,903	(280,567)	112,032,083
		Overseas		Inter–	
	PRC power	power	All other	segment	
For the six months ended 30 June 2024	segment	segment	segments	revenue	Total
		(Note i)			
– Sales of power and heat	103,098,377	11,790,598	-	-	114,888,975
 Sales of coal and raw materials 	706,135	19,188	-	_	725,323
– Port service	_	-	325,128	(202,187)	122,941
 Transportation service 	_	-	95,775	(65,445)	30,330
– Lease income	36,500	692,616	-	_	729,116
– Others	1,121,883	1,181,508	15,433	(9,651)	2,309,173
Total	104,962,895	13,683,910	436,336	(277,283)	118,805,858

Note i: Overseas power segment mainly consists of the operations in Singapore and Pakistan.

The revenue from the sale of power and heat and the sale of coal and raw materials is recognised at the point in time upon the transfer of products, whereas the revenue from port service, transportation service, maintenance service, and heating pipeline service is recognised over time during the provision of such services. Lease income is recognised over the lease term.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information

Directors and certain senior management of the Company perform the function as the chief operating decision maker (collectively referred to as the "senior management"). The senior management reviews the internal reporting of the Group in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The Company has determined the operating segments based on these reports. The reportable segments of the Group are the PRC power segment, overseas power segment and all other segments (mainly including port and transportation operations). No operating segments have been aggregated to form a reportable segment.

Senior management assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of profit before income tax expense under China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises ("PRC GAAP") excluding dividend income received from other equity instrument investments, share of profits of China Huaneng Finance Co., Ltd. ("Huaneng Finance") and operating results of the centrally managed and resource allocation functions of the headquarters ("segment results"). Other information provided, except as noted below, to the senior management of the Company is measured under PRC GAAP.

Segment assets exclude prepaid income tax, deferred income tax assets, other equity instrument investments, investment in Huaneng Finance and assets related to the centrally managed and resource allocation functions of the headquarters that are not attributable to any operating segment ("corporate assets"). Segment liabilities exclude current income tax liabilities, deferred income tax liabilities and liabilities related to the centrally managed and resource allocation functions of the headquarters that are not attributable to any operating segment ("corporate liabilities"). These are part of the reconciliation to total assets and liabilities of the statement of financial position.

All sales among the operating segments have been eliminated as internal transactions when preparing consolidated financial statements.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(Under PRC GAAP)

		Overseas		
	PRC power	power	All other	
	segment	segment	segments	Total
For the six months ended 30 June 2025				
Total revenue	100,139,540	11,739,207	433,903	112,312,650
Intersegment revenue			(280,567)	(280,567)
Revenue from external customers	100,139,540	11,739,207	153,336	112,032,083
Segment results	12,881,158	1,804,641	110,202	14,796,001
Interest income	76,705	109,535	485	186,725
Interest expense	(3,087,100)	(378,205)	(36,512)	(3,501,817)
Impairment loss on property, plant and				
equipment	(254,682)	-	-	(254,682)
Impairment loss on other non-current assets	(1,962)	-	-	(1,962)
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories	_	211	-	211
Reversal of/(provision for) credit loss	914	(4,706)	-	(3,792)
Depreciation and amortisation	(12,725,881)	(339,571)	(132,195)	(13,197,647)
Gain on disposal of non-current assets, net	95,910	9,034	-	104,944
Share of profits and losses of associates and				
joint ventures	586,813	-	99,716	686,529
Income tax expense	(2,207,384)	(242,937)	(4,607)	(2,454,928)

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(Under PRC GAAP)

		Overseas		
	PRC power	power	All other	
	segment	segment	segments	Total
For the six months ended 30 June 2024				
Total revenue	104,962,895	13,683,910	436,336	119,083,141
Intersegment revenue			(277,283)	(277,283)
Revenue from external customers	104,962,895	13,683,910	159,053	118,805,858
Segment results	8,916,541	2,182,176	163,436	11,262,153
Interest income	85,103	209,750	3,711	298,564
Interest expense	(3,507,363)	(484,666)	(49,671)	(4,041,700)
Impairment loss on other non-current assets	(543)	-	_	(543)
Impairment loss on inventories	_	(136)	_	(136)
Reversal of provision for credit loss	1,372	18,117	-	19,489
Depreciation and amortisation	(12,149,763)	(362,770)	(148,137)	(12,660,670)
Loss on disposal of non-current assets, net	(68,223)	(668)	-	(68,891)
Share of profits and losses of associates and				
joint ventures	596,422	-	162,759	759,181
Income tax expense	(1,683,481)	(342,462)	(6,859)	(2,032,802)

(Under PRC GAAP)

		Overseas		
	PRC power	power	All other	
	segment	segment	segments	Total
30 June 2025				
Segment assets	535,700,425	42,450,829	10,756,919	588,908,173
Including:			_	
Additions to non-current assets (excluding				
financial assets and deferred income tax				
assets)	25,521,758	148,935	71,294	25,741,987
Investments in associates	14,439,625	-	5,875,154	20,314,779
Investments in joint ventures	1,968,886	-	983,795	2,952,681
Segment liabilities	(359,951,464)	(18,310,039)	(1,823,113)	(380,084,616)

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(Under PRC GAAP)

	PRC power segment	Overseas power segment	All other segments	Total
31 December 2024				
Segment assets	528,529,486	41,577,645	10,530,303	580,637,434
Including:				
Additions to non-current assets (excluding				
financial assets and deferred income tax				
assets)	69,243,347	274,749	45,346	69,563,442
Investments in associates	14,160,764	_	5,575,405	19,736,169
Investments in joint ventures	1,962,702	-	961,959	2,924,661
Segment liabilities	(360,122,762)	(18,846,796)	(1,819,180)	(380,788,738)

A reconciliation of segment results to profit before income tax expense is provided as follows:

	For the six months ended 30 June		
	2025	2024	
Segment results (PRC GAAP)	14,796,001	11,262,153	
Reconciling items (PRC GAAP):			
Loss related to the headquarters	(90,212)	(143,054)	
Investment income from Huaneng Finance	56,223	69,945	
Subtotal	14,762,012	11,189,044	
Impact of IFRSs adjustments*	243,320	187,100	
Profit before income tax expense per condensed consolidated			
statement of comprehensive income	15,005,332	11,376,144	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Reportable segments' assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
Total segment assets (PRC GAAP)	588,908,173	580,637,434
Reconciling items (PRC GAAP):		
Investment in Huaneng Finance	1,945,114	1,985,070
Deferred income tax assets	2,900,093	3,256,059
Prepaid income tax	63,970	149,539
Other equity instrument investments	590,920	589,920
Corporate assets	203,326	224,731
Subtotal	594,611,596	586,842,753
Impact of IFRSs adjustments*	7,940,025	8,734,127
Total assets per condensed consolidated statement of financial		
position	602,551,621	595,576,880

Reportable segments' liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

	As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024	
Total segment liabilities (PRC GAAP)	(380,084,616)	(380,788,738)	
Reconciling items (PRC GAAP):			
Current income tax liabilities	(1,097,104)	(872,057)	
Deferred income tax liabilities	(1,805,785)	(1,711,662)	
Corporate liabilities	(655,862)	(422,469)	
Subtotal	(383,643,367)	(383,794,926)	
Impact of IFRSs adjustments*	(636,171)	(1,202,908)	
Total liabilities per condensed consolidated statement of financial			
position	(384,279,538)	(384,997,834)	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Other material items:

			Share of		
			profits of	Impact of	
	Reportable		Huaneng	IFRSs	
	segment total	Headquarters	Finance	adjustments*	Total
For the six months ended					
30 June 2025					
Total revenue	112,032,083	-	-	_	112,032,083
Interest income	186,725	-	-	-	186,725
Interest expense	(3,501,817)	-	_	_	(3,501,817)
Depreciation and amortisation	(13,197,647)	(12,597)	_	(426,252)	(13,636,496)
Impairment loss on property, plant and					
equipment	(254,682)	-	_	_	(254,682)
Impairment loss on other non-current					
assets	(1,962)	-	_	_	(1,962)
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories	211	-	_	-	211
Provision for credit loss	(3,792)	-	_	_	(3,792)
Share of profits and losses of associates					
and joint ventures	686,529	-	56,223	22,141	764,893
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets	104,944	_	-	-	104,944
Income tax expense	(2,454,928)	-	-	67,088	(2,387,840)

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

			Share of		
			profits of	Impact of	
	Reportable		Huaneng	IFRSs	
	segment total	Headquarters	Finance	adjustments*	Total
For the six months ended					
30 June 2024					
Total revenue	118,805,858	-	-	-	118,805,858
Interest income	298,564	-	-	-	298,564
Interest expense	(4,041,700)	-	-	-	(4,041,700)
Depreciation and amortisation	(12,660,670)	(18,530)	-	(129,775)	(12,808,975)
Reversal of impairment loss	(679)	-	-	-	(679)
Reversal of credit loss	19,489	-	-	-	19,489
Share of profits and losses of associates					
and joint ventures	759,181	-	69,945	28,993	858,119
Loss on disposal of non-current assets,					
net	(68,891)	-	-	(6,475)	(75,366)
Income tax expense	(2,032,802)			87,122	(1,945,680)

^{*} IFRSs adjustments above primarily represented the classification adjustments and adjustments related to business combinations under common control and borrowing costs. Other than the classification adjustments, the differences will be gradually eliminated following subsequent depreciation and amortisation of related assets or the extinguishment of liabilities.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Geographical information (Under IFRSs):

(i) External revenue generated from the following countries:

	For the six months	For the six months ended 30 June		
	2025	2024		
PRC	100,292,876	105,121,948		
Overseas	11,739,207	13,683,910		
Total	112,032,083	118,805,858		

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the electricity was transferred, goods were delivered, and services were provided.

(ii) Non-current assets (excluding financial assets and deferred income tax assets) are located in the following countries:

	As at 30 June	As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024		
PRC	471,739,628	465,319,492		
Overseas	23,188,629	22,007,431		
Total	494,928,257	487,326,923		

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets.

The information on sales to major customers of the Group which accounted for 10% or more of external revenue is as follows:

For the six months ended 30 June 2025, the revenue from grid companies under common control of State Grid Corporation of China within the PRC power segment in total accounted for 66% of external revenue (for the six months ended 30 June 2024: 77%). The sales to a subsidiary of State Grid Corporation of China which accounted for 10% or more of external revenue is as follows:

	For the six months ended 30 June			
	20	25	202	24
	Amount	Proportion	Amount	Proportion
State Grid Shandong Electric Power				
Company	13,697,221	12%	16,127,084	14%

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024	
Balance at the beginning of the period/year	402,936,461	368,675,819	
Acquisition	_	1,408,616	
Additions	17,510,017	60,571,601	
Other additions	-	196,933	
Reclassification to investment property	(297)	(1,537)	
Disposals	(151,429)	(285,276)	
Depreciation charge	(12,862,233)	(25,392,315)	
Impairment charge	(254,682)	(1,610,720)	
Other decrease	(573,251)	(569,773)	
Currency translation differences	283,920	(56,887)	
End of the period/year	406,888,506	402,936,461	

Security

As at 30 June 2025, certain property, plant and equipment were pledged to a bank as collateral against long-term loans (Note 12) and short-term loans (Note 17).

Building without ownership certificates

As at 30 June 2025, the Group was in the process of applying for the ownership certificate for certain buildings with an aggregate net book value of RMB2,437 million (31 December 2024: RMB3,889 million). Management is of the opinion that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy and use the abovementioned buildings.

Impairment of Cash Generating Units ("CGUs")

For each CGU with indicator of impairment, the Group determines the recoverable amount based on the discounted future cash flows of the CGU and performs impairment test for each CGU accordingly. For the six months ended 30 June 2025, impairment losses of property, plant and equipment amounting to RMB254 million were recognised. The details are as follows:

Company name	As at 30 I Net book value of CGUs before impairment (RMB million)	Recoverable amount (RMB million)	January to June 2025 Impairment provision	2024 n (RMB million)
Huaneng Qufu Thermal Power Co., Ltd ("Qufu Thermal Power") (a)	246	129	117	_
Shangan Power Plant of Huaneng international Power Co., Ltd. ("Shangan Power Plant") (b)	4,498	4,361	137	-
Total	4,744	4,490	254	-

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(a) Qufu Thermal Power

Background of CGUs with impairment provision

Qufu Thermal Power operates two 225MW coal-fired generating units, with a total installed capacity of 450MW. The units were commissioned and began commercial operation in February 2006.

Reasons for impairment

Reasons for no impairment recognised in 2024:

Qufu Thermal Power achieved net profit for two consecutive years (2023 and 2024). Based on management's assessment, no indicators of impairment were identified for the year ended 2024.

Reasons for impairment recognised in January to June 2025:

In accordance with the relevant policies of Shandong Province, including the "Shandong Province Coal Power Industry Transformation and Upgrading Action Plan", the Jining Energy Bureau's "Report on the Heating Substitution Plan for Coal Power Transformation and Upgrading in Qufu City", and Shandong Energy Bureau's "Reply Letter on Clarifying the Shutdown Timelines for Units 1 and 2 of Qufu Power Plant", both generating units of Qufu Thermal Power are scheduled to be permanently shut down and decommissioned in April 2026. As a result, Qufu Thermal Power identified indicators of impairment in its long-term asset group and conducted an impairment test on the asset group.

Assumptions of impairment assessment

As of 30 June 2025, the Company conducted an impairment test on Qufu Thermal Power's generating units as a single asset group. The key parameters used in estimating the recoverable amount included future sales volume (power generation hour) fuel prices and discount rate. Other critical parameters applied in the impairment test primarily comprised the average tariff. Key assumptions are listed in the following table:

	Sales volume (power generation hour) Unit: hours/year		Tariff (excluding tax) Unit: RMB/MWh		Fuel prices (Price of standard coal into the furnace) Unit: RMB/ton	
Company name	Forecast period	Actual in 2024	Forecast period	Actual in 2024	Forecast period	Actual in 2024
Qufu Thermal Power	Jan-Dec 2025: 3,588	4,258	Jan-Dec 2025: 392.45	415.16	Jan-Dec 2025: 834.89	895.38
	Jan-Apr 2026:		Jan-Apr 2026:		Jan-Apr 2026:	
	1,181		371.86		870.66	

^{*} Standard coal" refers to coal with a calorific value of 7,000 kilocalories per kilogram (7,000 kcal/kg).

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(a) Qufu Thermal Power (continued)

Sales volume (power generation hours)

The Company estimated the forecasted power generation hours for the generating units based on its analysis of market conditions, electricity trading policies, and unit efficiency. Qufu Thermal Power's two 225MW units are subcritical and exhibit higher coal consumption compared to units of similar capacity, resulting in elevated variable costs. Under the Company's spot market bidding and unit dispatch protocols, Qufu Thermal Power's units are prioritized lower in the dispatch order. Furthermore, the rapid growth of renewable energy and inter-provincial electricity imports in Shandong Province is accelerating the transition of coal-fired units into ancillary regulation resources, leading to a clear downward trend in power generation hours for thermal power units. Based on actual power generation hours in recent years, the Company projects 3,588 power generation hours for 2025 and 1,181 power generation power for January to April 2026.

Fuel Price (price of standard coal into the furnace)

The Company estimated forecasted fuel prices based on its coal procurement structure, supply-demand dynamics, and relevant industry policies. The average coal price in 2025 is projected to decrease moderately from 2024 levels, with an estimated annual price of RMB834.89/ton. Early 2026, prices are expected to rise during the winter heating season (traditionally the market peak period), resulting in a projected standard coal equivalent price of RMB870.66/ton.

Tariff (excluding tax)

The Company estimated the forecasted average settlement price based on its analysis of national policies, regional electricity market regulations, current tariff levels, and permitted benchmark tariff adjustments. In November 2023, the NDRC and National Energy Administration issued Document No. 1501 (NDRC Price [2023]1501), mandating the transition from a single-rate system to a two-part tariff mechanism for coal power starting January 1, 2024. Subsequent Shandong provincial regulations (LuFaGai Price [2023]1022) established capacity pricing at RMB100/kW/year (tax inclusive), covering 30% of fixed costs for 2024–2025. The market-based capacity compensation rate was simultaneously adjusted from RMB0.0991/kWh to RMB0.0705/kWh (tax inclusive). The Company's projections incorporate both capacity payments and energy payments for 2025 full-year composite price: RMB392.45/MWh and early 2026 price (reflecting lower heating season tariffs for cogeneration units): RMB371.86/MWh.

As of 30 June 2025, Qufu Thermal Power calculated the recoverable amount based on discounted future cash flows using these parameters, resulting in RMB117 million of fixed asset impairment provision, independent verification by Beijing Tianjian Xingye Asset Evaluation Co., Ltd., which issued a Long-Term Asset Group Valuation Report confirming the recoverable amount.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(b) Shangan Power Plant

Background of CGUs with impairment provision

Huaneng International Power Co., Ltd.'s Shangan Power Plant operates a total installed capacity of 2,560MW through three phases of coal-fired generating units located in Jingxing County, Shijiazhuang City, Hebei Province. The facility consists of Phase I with two 350MW units commissioned in 1990, Phase II with two 330MW units added in 1997, and Phase III with two 600MW units that began operation in 2008.

Reasons for impairment

Reasons for no impairment recognised in 2024:

Shangan Power Plant achieved net profit for two consecutive years (2023 and 2024). In 2024, after evaluating the plant's earnings outlook and the stability of regional electricity pricing policies, management concluded that no indicators of impairment were identified.

Reasons for impairment recognised in January to June 2025:

On April 30 2025, the Shijiazhuang Municipal DRC submitted an official request to the provincial authorities titled "Proposal on Phasing Out Outdated Coal Power Capacity During the 15th Five-Year Plan Period." According to this document, Explicit non-support was declared for extending the operational life of Shangan Power Plant's for two 350MW units and two 330MW units. Following consultations with Hebei regulatory authorities and internal corporate review, the Company decided to permanently retire Phase I units $(2 \times 350 \text{MW})$ in 2027 and Convert Phase II units $(2 \times 330 \text{MW})$ to emergency standby status (anticipated until 2030). Consequently, Shangan Power Plant identified indicators of impairment in its long-term asset group and initiated formal impairment testing under applicable accounting standards.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(b) Shangan Power Plant (continued)

Assumptions of impairment assessment

As of 30 June 2025, the Company conducted an impairment test on Shangan Power Plant generating units as a single asset group. The key parameters used in estimating the recoverable amount included future sales volume (power generation hour), fuel prices and discount rate. Other critical parameters applied in the impairment test primarily comprised the average tariff Key assumptions are listed in the following table:

	Sales volume (power of Unit: (hours		Tariff (excluding tax) Unit: (RMB/MWh)		Fuel prices (Price of standard coal into the furnace) Unit: RMB/ton	
Company name	Forecast period	Actual in 2024	Forecast period	Actual in 2024	Forecast period	Actual in 2024
Shangan power Plant (2×350MW)	2025: 4,454	4,545	2025: 392.92	406.76	2025: 765.00	823.35
	2026: 4,454		2026: 381.13		2026: 739.11	
	2027: 4,088		2027: 369.70		2027: 713.23	
Shangan power Plant (2×330MW)	2025: 2,927	2,987	2025: 392.92	406.76	2025: 765.00	823.35
	2026: 2,927		2026: 381.13		2026: 739.11	
	2027: 2,927		2027: 369.70		2027:713.23	
Shangan power Plant (2×600MW)	2025 and	5,145	2025: 392.92	406.76	2025:765.00	823.35
	continuing:		2026: 381.13		2026:739.11	
	4,879		2027: 369.70		2027:713.23	
			2028: 358.61		2028:687.34	
			2029 and		2029 and	
			continuing:		continuing:	
			347.85		661.46	

^{*} Standard coal" refers to coal with a calorific value of 7,000 kilocalories per kilogram (7,000 kcal/kg).

Note: The Company and its subsidiaries regard a single power plant as CGU, and forecast performs impairment for each CGU based on specific circumstances.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(b) Shangan Power Plant (continued)

Sales volume (power generation hours)

Based on comprehensive analysis of market conditions, electricity trading policies, and unit efficiency factors, the Company has projected the following power generation hour forecasts for Shangan Power Plant: The substantial increase in renewable energy capacity by late May 2025 is expected to result in an 8.79% year-on-year decrease in the plant's power generation hours for June 2025. Following this downward trend in subsequent months, power generation during the second half of 2025 is projected to decline compared to previous years. Looking beyond 2025, coal-fired power generation is anticipated to increasingly transition toward serving as both a baseload security resource and system flexibility provider. To adapt to the transformative changes in power system operations brought by electricity spot market reforms, Shangan Power Plant will continuously optimize its operational strategies and trading approaches. Given the uncertainties in the thermal power market stemming from renewable energy expansion and evolving spot market regulations, power generation hours for post-2025 years are currently estimated to remain at 2025 levels in the Company's projections.

The projected power generation hours by unit group are as follows:

- (1) For Shangan Power Plant's 2×350 MW units: The actual power generation hours reached 2,285 hours during January-June 2025, with full-year 2025 projection at 4,454 hours. The 2026–2027 estimates maintain the same level as 2025.
- (2) For the 2×330 MW units: January-June 2025 actual power generation was 1,359 hours, with full-year 2025 forecast at 2,927 hours. The 2026–2027 estimates maintain the same level as 2025.
- (3) For the 2×600MW units: The plant recorded 2,514 power generation hours in January-June 2025, with full-year 2025 estimate at 4,879 hours. Subsequent years are projected to maintain the same power generation level as 2025.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(b) Shangan Power Plant (continued)

Fuel Price (price of standard coal into the furnace)

The Company has estimated future fuel prices based on its coal procurement structure, supply-demand dynamics, and relevant industry policies.

Since 2024, China's coal market has seen a continued easing of supply-demand imbalances, with ample supply leading to a general downward price trend.

In the first half of 2025, coal prices remained above the "reasonable range" of RMB570–770/ton specified in the NDRC's Notice on Further Improving the Coal Market Pricing Mechanism (NDRC Price [2022] No. 303, hereafter "Document 303"). The Company projects coal prices will gradually decline into Document 303's target range, accounting for implementation timelines for national policies, ramp-up of new coal production capacity, plant-specific factors (coal mix, sourcing, and logistics) and expected market volatility as supply and demand rebalance. Long-term projections (based on decade-long procurement averages) account for cyclical patterns and multi-factor influences (e.g., supply shocks, policy interventions). Shangan Power Plant's coal prices are ultimately expected to stabilize at RMB661.46/ton, reflecting historical mean reversion tendencies, structural improvements in supply stability and Regulatory price guidance under Document 303.

Tariff (excluding tax)

The Company has estimated the forecasted average electricity settlement price based on its assessment of national policies, regional power market regulations, and current tariff conditions, including permitted adjustments to benchmark prices. In November 2023, the Notice on Establishing a Coal-Fired Power Capacity Pricing Mechanism (NDRC Price Regulation [2023] No. 1501, issued by the National Development and Reform Commission ("NDRC") mandated the transition from the current single-rate electricity pricing system for coal-fired power to a two-part tariff system, establishing a coal-fired power capacity pricing mechanism with effect from 1 January 2024. Pursuant to the Implementation Notice on Coal Power Capacity Pricing Mechanism (JiFaGai Energy Price [2023] No. 1841) issued by the Hebei Development and Reform Commission ("HDRC"), the capacity price for coal-fired units in Hebei Province is determined based on recovery of a specified proportion of fixed costs. Based on the market demand and the transition status, the capacity standard price for 2024–2025 is set at RMB100/kW (tax inclusive) or RMB8.3333/kW per month. For 2026 onward, Hebei's capacity pricing will be separately determined based on the national regulations. On 9 February 2025, NDRC issued the Notice on Deepening Market-Oriented Reform of Renewable Energy Feedin Tariffs to Promote High-Quality Sector Development (NDRC Price Regulation [2025] No. 136), advancing market-based feed-in tariff reforms to integrate all renewable energy generation into electricity markets, with prices formed through market transactions. In 2025, the long-term thermal power contract signing rate for Shangan Power Plant is expected to decline and it is also influenced by factors such as looser supplydemand conditions and higher renewable energy penetration, the spot market will transition from thermal power-dominant pricing to alternating thermal-renewable pricing. The capacity electricity price is expected to have a downward trend to reach a stable level gradually in the future period.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

(b) Shangan Power Plant (continued)

Tariff (excluding tax) (Continued)

Phase II units will be converted to emergency standby (expected to remain on standby until 2030). According to the HBRC's Notice on Clarifying Capacity Pricing for Emergency Standby Power Sources (Ji Fa Gai Neng Jia [2024] No. 752), emergency standby units listed in Hebei's standby power roster will receive an annual capacity price of RMB170/kW(tax inclusive).

As of 30 June 2025, Shangan Power Plant performed an impairment assessment using these parameters, recognizing RMB137 million in fixed asset impairments after estimating recoverable amounts through discounted cash flow analysis. The valuation was independently verified by Beijing Tianjian Xingye Asset Evaluation Co., Ltd., which issued a Long-Term Asset Group Valuation Report confirming these calculations. The projection methodology captures both the immediate impacts of market liberalization and longer-term structural shifts in China's power sector.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Impairment of CGUs (Continued)

Discount rate:

Our company and subsidiaries determine the post-tax discount rate based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC). The calculated post-tax discount rate is 5.56%, with a pre-tax discount rate of 6.54%.

The WACC calculation formula is: WACC = Ke \times (E/(D + E)) + Kd \times (1-T) \times (D/(D+E)), where D represents debt value and E represents equity value. The cost of equity (Ke) is derived using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). Under this model, the cost of equity equals the risk-free rate of return ("risk-free rate") plus a risk premium reflecting the company's specific risk profile, expressed as: Ke = Rf + β \times ERP + ε . The parameter values are shown in the following table:

Parameters		Amount	Remarks
Rf	Risk-free rate	1.65%	The risk-free rate is expressed as the yield to maturity of all treasury bonds with a remaining maturity of 10 years as of the valuation reference date (June 30, 2025) provided by China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd. (CCDC), which comes from the official website of the China Asset Appraisal Association http://www.cas.org.cn/.
β	Beta coefficient	0.3054	Based on the average of the non-financial leverage β of comparable companies as of June 30, 2025.
ERP	Equity risk premium	6.52%	The average return of China's stock market is based on the historical data of the CSI 300 Index, and the monthly data of the CSI 300 Index as of the evaluation base date (June 30, 2025) is selected from the Wind information market database, and the 10-year moving arithmetic average method is used to measure it.
ε	Company-specific risk premium	5.00%	The comprehensive analysis method is used to determine the ε , that is determined by comprehensively considering the asset size, development stage, market competition, internal governance of the company, capital structure and other factors of the evaluated unit
Kd	Cost of debt	3.50%	Take the 5-year bank market lending rate (LPR) as Kd as June 30, 2025.
T	Corporate tax rate	25%	The applicable income tax rate is calculated according to the Enterprise Income Tax

After calculating the post-tax discount rate, the pre-tax discount rate was determined through an iterative calculation based on the principle that "the present value of pre-tax cash flows equals the present value of post-tax cash flows." Following this computation at 30 June 2025, the Company adopted a pre-tax discount rate of 6.54%.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Fair value measurements

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

- Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
- Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The following table presents the assets and liabilities of the Group that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2024:

As at 30 June 2025

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Assets				
Derivatives used for hedging	_	35,860	_	35,860
Other equity instrument investments			590,920	590,920
Total assets		35,860	590,920	626,780
Liabilities				
Derivatives used for hedging		1,139,266	_	1,139,266
Total liabilities		1,139,266		1,139,266

As at 31 December 2024

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Assets				
Derivatives used for hedging	_	294,170	_	294,170
Other equity instrument investments			589,920	589,920
Total assets		294,170	589,920	884,090
Liabilities				
Derivatives used for hedging		448,235		448,235
Total liabilities		448,235		448,235

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1. As at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2024, there was no instruments included in Level 1.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Fair value measurements (Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

- The forward exchange contracts and fuel oil swaps are both valued using quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
- The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.
- The material other equity instrument investments in unlisted securities are valued using a market-base valuation technique based on assumptions that are not supported by an observable market price or rate. The Group determines comparable public companies based on industry, size, leverage and strategy and calculates an appropriate price multiple, such as price to book ("P/B") multiple, for each comparable company identified.

Instruments included in Level 2 comprise forward exchange contracts, fuel oil swaps, and interest rate swaps.

Instruments included in Level 3 comprise other equity instrument investments.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Fair value measurements (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 30 June 2025:

	Valuation technique	Significant unobservable input	Range	Sensitivity of fair value to the input
Unlisted equity investments	Valuation multiples	Average P/B	1.31-1.44 (31 December 2024: 1.91- 1.31)	10% increase/decrease in multiple would result in increase/decrease in fair value by RMB32.48 million (31 December 2024: RMB32.76 million).
		Discount for lack of marketability	18.05%- 19.85% (31 December 2024: 18.05%- 19.85%)	10% increase/decrease in discount for lack of marketability would result in decrease/increase in fair value by RMB7.15 million (31 December 2024: RMB7.21 million).

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market participants would take into account.

During the six months ended 30 June 2025, there were no transfers of financial instruments between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

The movements during the period in the balance of the Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

	As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024	
Other equity instrument investments			
Beginning of the period/year	589,920	642,923	
Addition	1,000	_	
Fair value changes		(53,003)	
End of the period/year	590,920	589,920	
Changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income			
for the period/year, net of tax		(39,752)	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value disclosures

The carrying values less provision for doubtful accounts of accounts receivable, other receivables and assets, accounts payable and other liabilities, short-term bonds and short-term loans approximated their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The estimated fair values of long-term loans and long-term bonds (both including current maturities) were approximately RMB186.77 billion and RMB48.40 billion as at 30 June 2025 (31 December 2024: RMB182.12 billion and RMB46.81 billion), respectively. The aggregate book values of these liabilities were approximately RMB186.98 billion and RMB47.35 billion as at 30 June 2025 (31 December 2024: RMB183.78 billion and RMB45.70 billion), respectively.

7. GOODWILL

The movements of goodwill are as follows:

	As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024	
Beginning of the period/year			
Cost	19,633,308	19,757,467	
Accumulated impairment losses	(5,244,262)	(5,247,728)	
Net book value	14,389,046	14,509,739	
Movements:		_	
Currency translation differences – cost	664,643	(124,159)	
Currency translation differences – impairment	(23,325)	3,466	
End of the period/year	15,030,364	14,389,046	
Cost	20,297,951	19,633,308	
Accumulated impairment losses	(5,267,587)	(5,244,262)	
Net book value	15,030,364	14,389,046	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

8. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Details of other non-current assets are as follows:

	As at 30 June As at 31 Decemb		
	2025	2024	
Finance lease receivables (Note i)	6,517,171	7,115,271	
Value-added tax ("VAT") recoverable	9,100,591	8,976,289	
Pre-construction cost	1,346,819	1,068,630	
Intangible assets	935,248	832,572	
Prepaid connection fees	13,049	15,270	
Contract assets	1,118,413	1,051,906	
Others	3,613,646	3,285,240	
Total	22,644,937	22,345,178	

Note i: Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan) Energy (Private) Ltd. ("Ruyi Pakistan Energy") entered into a power purchase agreement with Central Power Purchasing Agency (Guarantee) Limited ("CPPA-G") to sell all of the electricity produced with a regulated tariff mechanism approved by the National Electric Power Regulatory Authority. In accordance with the power purchase agreement and tariff mechanism, almost all the risks and rewards in relation to the power assets were in substance transferred to CPPA-G and therefore were accounted for as a finance lease to CPPA-G.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

9. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND ASSETS

Other receivables and assets comprised the following:

	As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024	
Prepayments for inventories	3,022,780	4,453,979	
Prepaid income tax	63,970	149,539	
Others	872,620	472,988	
Total prepayments	3,959,370	5,076,506	
Dividends receivable	346,442	241,970	
Receivables from sales of fuel	10,536	79,315	
Others	3,541,441	3,488,644	
Subtotal of other receivables	3,898,419	3,809,929	
Less: Loss allowance	300,266	308,114	
Total other receivables, net	3,598,153	3,501,815	
VAT recoverable	4,172,143	4,593,354	
Finance lease receivables	1,060,652	1,049,887	
Others	757,505	491,608	
Subtotal of other assets	5,990,300	6,134,849	
Less: Loss allowance	167,096	167,096	
Total other assets, net	5,823,204	5,967,753	
Gross total	13,848,089	15,021,284	
Net total	13,380,727	14,546,074	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

10.ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts and notes receivable comprised the following:

	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
Accounts receivable Notes receivable	49,236,809 418,344	47,802,397 419,949
Less: Loss allowance	49,655,153 149,374	48,222,346 149,122
Total	49,505,779	48,073,224
Analysed into: Accounts receivable – At amortised cost	49,236,809	47,802,397
Notes receivable – At amortised cost	418,344	419,949

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable and notes receivable based on the invoice date was as follows:

	As at 30 June A	s at 31 December
	2025	2024
Within 1 year	48,766,031	46,977,508
Between 1 and 2 years	279,596	401,481
Between 2 and 3 years	245,336	588,608
Over 3 years	364,190	254,749
Total	49,655,153	48,222,346

As at 30 June 2025, the maturity period of the notes receivable ranged from 1 month to 12 months (31 December 2024: from 1 month to 12 months).

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

11.DIVIDENDS OF ORDINARY SHARES AND CUMULATIVE DISTRIBUTION OF OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

(a) Dividends of ordinary shares

On 24 June 2025, upon the approval from shareholders at the annual general meeting, the Company declared a cash dividend of RMB0.27 (inclusive of tax) for each ordinary share amounting to approximately RMB4,238 million for the year of 2024 (2023: RMB0.20 (inclusive of tax) for each ordinary share amounting to approximately RMB3,140 million). As at 30 June 2025, the dividend has not yet been paid.

(b) Cumulative distribution of other equity instruments

			Initial						
			Distribution	Issue				Conversion	n Conversion
Type of Instruments	Issuance Date	Category	Rate	Price	Number	Par Value	Initial Period	Condition	Result
Yingda Insurance Financing Plan (1st)	September 2018	Equity Instrument	5.79%	-	-	3,283,000	8 years	None	None
Yingda Insurance Financing Plan (2nd)	September 2018	Equity Instrument	5.79%	-	-	827,000	8 years	None	None
Yingda Insurance Financing Plan (3rd)	September 2018	Equity Instrument	5.79%	-	-	890,000	8 years	None	None
China Life Financing Plan (1st)	September 2019	Equity Instrument	5.05%	-	-	2,070,000	8 years	None	None
PICC Financing Plan (1st)	September 2019	Equity Instrument	5.10%	-	-	930,000	10 years	None	None
China Life Financing Plan (2nd)	October 2019	Equity Instrument	5.05%	-	-	2,260,000	8 years	None	None
PICC Financing Plan (2nd)	October 2019	Equity Instrument	5.10%	-	-	1,740,000	10 years	None	None
China Life Financing Plan (3rd)	April 2020	Equity Instrument	4.75%	-	-	3,570,000	8 years	None	None
PICC Financing Plan (3rd)	April 2020	Equity Instrument	4.75%	-	-	930,000	10 years	None	None
PICC Financing Plan (4th)	August 2020	Equity Instrument	4.60%	-	-	3,000,000	10 years	None	None
2022 medium-term notes (5th)	July 2022	Equity Instrument	2.93%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	3 years	None	None
2022 medium-term notes (8th)	September 2022	Equity Instrument	2.78%	0.1	5,000,000	500,000	3 years	None	None
Huaneng Trust (1st)	September 2022	Equity Instrument	2.91%	-	-	2,500,000	5 years	None	None
Huaneng Trust (2nd)	October 2022	Equity Instrument	3.06%	-	-	3,050,000	5 years	None	None
2022 medium-term notes (9th)	October 2022	Equity Instrument	2.78%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	3 years	None	None
2022 medium-term notes (10th)	October 2022	Equity Instrument	2.72%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	3 years	None	None
2022 medium-term notes (11th)	November 2022	Equity Instrument	2.66%	0.1	25,000,000	2,500,000	3 years	None	None
Huaneng Trust (3rd)	November 2022	Equity Instrument	3.11%	-	-	4,000,000	5 years	None	None
Huaneng Trust (4th)	November 2022	Equity Instrument	3.11%	-	-	4,000,000	5 years	None	None
2023 medium-term notes (1st Energy Supply Bond)	January 2023	Equity Instrument	3.93%	0.1	30,000,000	3,000,000	3 years	None	None
2023 medium-term notes (2nd Energy Supply Bond)	February 2023	Equity Instrument	3.74%	0.1	30,000,000	3,000,000	3 years	None	None
2023 medium-term notes (3rd Energy Supply Bond)	February 2023	Equity Instrument	3.55%	0.1	30,000,000	3,000,000	3 years	None	None

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

11.DIVIDENDS OF ORDINARY SHARES AND CUMULATIVE DISTRIBUTION OF OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Cumulative distribution of other equity instruments (Continued)

			Initial Distribution	Issue				Conversion	Conversion
Type of Instruments	Issuance Date	Category	Rate	Price	Number	Par Value	Initial Period	Condition	Result
2023 medium-term notes	February 2023	Equity Instrument	3.58%	0.1	25,000,000	2,500,000	3 years	None	None
(4th Energy Supply Bond)									
2023 medium-term notes	March 2023	Equity Instrument	3.61%	0.1	30,000,000	3,000,000	3 years	None	None
(5th Energy Supply Bond)									
2023 medium-term notes	March 2023	Equity Instrument	3.53%	0.1	25,000,000	2,500,000	3 years	None	None
(7th Energy Supply Bond)									
2023 medium-term notes (13th)	August 2023	Equity Instrument	2.75%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	2 years	None	None
2023 medium-term notes (14th)	September 2023	Equity Instrument	3.05%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	2 years	None	None
2023 medium-term notes (15th)	September 2023	Equity Instrument	3.08%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	2 years	None	None
Huaneng Trust (5th)	December 2024	Equity Instrument	2.40%	-	-	2,051,000	5 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (4th)	March 2025	Equity Instrument	2.28%	0.1	15,000,000	1,500,000	3 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (5th)	March 2025	Equity Instrument	2.20%	0.1	15,000,000	1,500,000	3 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (6th)	April 2025	Equity Instrument	2.06%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	3 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (7th)	April 2025	Equity Instrument	2.06%	0.1	15,000,000		3 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (8th)	April 2025	Equity Instrument	2.05%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	3 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (9th)	June 2025	Equity Instrument	1.97%	0.1	20,000,000	2,000,000	3 years	None	None
2025 medium-term notes (10th)	June 2025	Equity Instrument	1.95%	0.1	15,000,000	1,500,000		None	None
Total						79,101,000			

The perpetual corporate bonds, financing plans and medium-term notes were recorded as other equity instruments in the consolidated financial statements. The interest of the perpetual corporate bonds, financing plans and medium-term notes were recorded as distributions, which were paid annually in arrears in each year and may be deferred at the discretion of the Company unless compulsory distribution payment events (distributions to ordinary shareholders of the Company or reduction of the registered capital of the Company) occur. The Company has the right to defer current interest and all deferred interest. The perpetual corporate bonds, financing plans and medium-term notes have no fixed maturity date and are callable at the Company's discretion at specific time, and the payment of the principal may be deferred for each renewal period. The applicable distribution rate will be reset on the first call date and for each renewal period after the first call date, to the sum of the applicable benchmark interest rate, the initial spread, and 300 basis points per annum, and will remain it afterwards.

During the six months ended 30 June 2025, the profit attributable to holders of other equity instruments, based on the applicable distribution rate, was approximately RMB1,414 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2024: approximately RMB1,458 million). During the six months ended 30 June 2025, the Company distributed approximately RMB1,511 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2024: approximately RMB1,514 million) to holders of other equity instruments.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

12. LONG-TERM LOANS

Long-term loans comprised the following:

	As at 30 June <i>A</i> 2025	As at 31 December 2024
Loans from related parties (a)	11,936,384	11,871,155
Bank loans and other loans (b)	175,040,961	171,907,325
	186,977,345	183,778,480
Less: Current portion of long-term loans	35,010,863	31,950,932
Total	151,966,482	151,827,548

(a) Loans from Related Parties

Details of loans from related parties are as follows:

		As at 30.	lune 2025	
	RMB	Less: Current	Non-current	Annual
	equivalent	portion	portion	interest rate
Loans from Huaneng Group				
Unsecured				
RMB	823,818	305	823,513	3.60%-4.60%
Loans from Huaneng Finance				
Unsecured				
RMB	9,289,931	1,025,769	8,264,162	1.75%-3.20%
Loans from Huaneng Hong Kong Asset				
Management Co., Ltd. ("Hong Kong				
Asset Management")				
Unsecured				
USD	201,551	215	201,336	3.85%
Loans from Huaneng				
Tiancheng Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.				
("Tiancheng Financial Leasing")				
Secured				
RMB	1,437,109	119,082	1,318,027	2.25%-3.03%
Loans from joint ventures				
Unsecured				
RMB	183,975	17,818	166,157	6.33%
Total	11,936,384	1,163,189	10,773,195	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12. LONG-TERM LOANS (CONTINUED)

(a) Loans from Related Parties (Continued)

Details of loans from related parties are as follows: (Continued)

	As at 31 December 2024					
	RMB equivalent	Less: Current portion	Non–current portion	Annual interest rate		
Loans from Huaneng Group Unsecured						
RMB	824,558	1,045	823,513	3.60%-3.95%		
Loans from Huaneng Finance Unsecured						
RMB	9,114,398	721,679	8,392,719	2.00%-4.40%		
Loans from Hong Kong Asset Management Unsecured	202.442	222	202.474	2.050/		
USD	202,412	238	202,174	3.85%		
Loans from Tiancheng Financial Leasing Secured						
RMB	1,551,088	614,486	936,602	2.50%-3.14%		
Loans from joint ventures Unsecured						
RMB	178,699	12,543	166,156	6.33%		
Total	11,871,155	1,349,991	10,521,164			

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

12. LONG-TERM LOANS (CONTINUED)

(b) Bank loans and other loans

Details of bank loans and other loans are as follows:

		As at 30.	lune 2025	
	RMB equivalent	Less: Current portion		Annual interest rate
Secured Unsecured	9,011,948	568,169 33,279,505	8,443,779	1.80%-3.85% 0.75%-9.04%
Total	175,040,961	33,847,674	141,193,287	
		As at 31 Dec	cember 2024	
	RMB	Less: Current	Non-current	Annual
	equivalent	portion	portion	interest rate
Secured	9,316,282	647,457	8,668,825	1.90%-4.66%
Unsecured	162,591,043	29,953,484	132,637,559	0.75%-9.35%
Total	171,907,325	30,600,941	141,306,384	

As at 30 June 2025, included in other loans of approximately RMB184 million (31 December 2024: RMB179 million) were unsecured and borrowed from a joint venture of the Company with an annual interest rate of 6.33% (31 December 2024: 6.33%).

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB4,834 million (31 December 2024: RMB5,060 million) were secured by future revenue from the electricity or heat business.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB2,732 million (31 December 2024: RMB3,051 million) were secured by certain property, plant and equipment with a net book value amounting to approximately RMB4,752 million (31 December 2024: RMB4,875 million).

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB2,883 million (31 December 2024: RMB2,756 million) were secured by certain construction in progress with a net book value amounting to approximately RMB2,266 million (31 December 2024: RMB2,436 million). Included in these secured loans, approximately RMB1,520 million (31 December 2024 RMB1,444 million) were additionally secured by both the future revenue from electricity and equity interests of the corresponding subsidiaries as collateral, while approximately RMB1,363 million (31 December 2024: RMB1,312 million) were secured solely by the future revenue from electricity as collateral.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12. LONG-TERM LOANS (CONTINUED)

(b) Bank loans and other loans (Continued)

Certain subsidiaries of the Group had sales and leaseback agreements with Tiancheng Financial Leasing and other financial leasing companies. According to the agreements, these subsidiaries have an option to buy back the equipment at a nominal price (RMB1) when the lease term expires. At the same time, certain subsidiaries of the Group have entered into financial lease agreements with the above-mentioned financial leasing companies, whereby the financial leasing companies will select equipment suppliers to purchase the equipment and lease it to the subsidiaries of the Group in the form of leases according to the requirements of the subsidiaries of the Group, and the subsidiaries of the Group has controlled over the leased equipment. The substance of the transaction was to obtain financing secured by the relevant assets within the leasing period. As at 30 June 2025, the equipment mentioned above secured to Tiancheng Financial Leasing and other financial leasing companies had total carrying amounts of RMB1,719 million and RMB4,012 million (31 December 2024: RMB2,271 million and RMB5,040 million) respectively, which were recognised in property, plant and equipment (including construction in progress).

As at 30 June 2025, the Company provided guarantees for long-term loans of approximately RMB1,338 million (31 December 2024: RMB1,273 million) of the Company's domestic subsidiaries.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB88 million (31 December 2024: RMB84 million) were guaranteed by Enshi Finance Bureau of Hubei Province.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB73 million (31 December 2024: RMB78 million) were guaranteed by Tangyin County Modern Agricultural Investment Co., Ltd.

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB202 million (approximately US\$28 million) (31 December 2024: RMB202 million (approximately US\$28 million)) were guaranteed by Huaneng Shandong Power Generation Co., Ltd. ("Shandong Power").

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB4,771 million (31 December 2024: RMB5,635 million) were guaranteed by Shandong Power, China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation and Jining Chengtou Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. ("Jining Chengtou") at the liability ratio of 17.50%, 65.00% and 17.50% respectively (31 December 2024: Shandong Power, China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation and Jining Chengtou at the liability ratios of 17.50%, 65.00% and 17.50% respectively).

As at 30 June 2025, long-term loans of approximately RMB320 million (31 December 2024: RMB711 million) were guaranteed by Shandong Power and Jining Chengtou at the liability ratios of 50.00% and 50.00% respectively (31 December 2024: Shandong Power and Jining Chengtou at the liability ratios of 50.00% and 50.00% respectively).

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

13. LONG-TERM BONDS

Long-term bonds comprised the following:

	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
2016 corporate bonds 1st batch (10 years)	1,202,405	1,226,476
2018 corporate bonds 2nd batch (10 years)	5,203,548	5,078,315
2019 corporate bonds 1st batch (10 years)	2,320,499	2,374,989
2020 corporate bonds (5 years) - SinoSing Power Pte. Ltd. ("SSPL")	-	2,189,444
2020 corporate bonds (10 years) - SSPL	2,157,055	2,181,561
2021 corporate bonds 1st batch (10 years)	1,506,222	1,536,239
2021 corporate bonds 2nd batch (10 years)	3,509,187	3,579,226
2021 corporate bonds 3rd batch (10 years)	1,801,993	1,838,195
2022 medium-term notes 1st batch (10 years)	1,514,605	1,542,554
2022 medium-term notes 2nd batch (3 years)	-	3,070,524
2022 medium-term notes 3rd batch (10 years)	1,505,773	1,533,396
2022 medium-term notes 1st batch (3 years) – Jiangsu	-	510,000
2022 medium-term notes 6th batch (3 years)	2,043,242	2,018,464
2024 medium-term notes 1st batch (10 years)	1,013,389	1,027,828
2024 green medium-term notes 1st batch (3 years)	2,511,639	2,539,880
2024 medium-term notes 2nd batch (20 years)	1,001,013	1,016,096
2024 medium-term notes 3rd batch (10 years)	2,005,204	2,033,806
2024 medium-term notes 4th batch(15 years)	2,047,864	2,024,659
2024 medium-term notes 5th batch(15 years)	2,047,405	2,024,090
2024 medium-term notes 6th batch (15 years)	2,043,185	2,021,249
2024 medium-term notes 7th batch (10 years)	1,529,271	1,513,617
2024 medium-term notes 8th batch (10 years)	1,326,392	1,311,730
2024 medium-term notes 9th batch (3 years)	1,518,821	1,503,540
2025 1st medium-term notes (10 years)	2,018,409	-
2025 2nd medium-term notes (3 years)	2,013,008	-
2025 3rd medium-term notes (5 years)	2,012,805	-
2025 11th medium-term bonds (3 years)	1,501,249	
Subtotal	47,354,183	45,695,878
Less: Current portion of long-term bonds	3,838,632	8,447,643
Total	43,515,551	37,248,235

As at 30 June 2025, the Company provided guarantees for long-term bonds of approximately RMB2,148 million (31 December 2024: RMB4,313 million) of the Company's domestic subsidiaries.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Details of the outstanding corporate bonds, medium-term notes and debt financing instruments of the Group as at 30 June 2025 are summarised as follows:

3. LONG-TERM BONDS (CONTINUED)

			Initial	Initial Distribution	Effective	Issue	Balance as at 31 December	lssued				Foreign Exchange	Foreign Currency Translation	Interest B	nterest Balance as at 31
Type of Instruments	Face Value	Issuance Date		Rate	Rate	Price	2024	Amount	Amortisation	Interest	Repayment	Gain	Differences	Payable	June 2025
2016 1st corporate bonds (10 years)	1,200,000	June 2016	10 years	3.98%	3.98%	1,200,000	1,226,476	1	23,684	'n	(47,760)	1	1	2,355	1,202,405
2018 2nd corporate bonds (10 years)	2,000,000	September 2018	10 years	2.05%	2.05%	2,000,000	5,078,315	1	125,212	71	•	1	1	203,384	5,203,548
2019 1st corporate bonds (10 years)	2,300,000	April 2019	10 years	4.70%	4.70%	2,300,000	2,374,989	1	53,606	4	(108,100)	1	1	20,435	2,320,499
2020 SinoSing oversea bonds (5 years)	2,108,865	February 2020	5 years	2.25%	2.32%	2,108,865	2,189,444	•	6,567	437	(2,254,215)	(29,073)	86,840	•	•
2020 SinoSing oversea bonds (10 years)	2,108,865	February 2020	10 years	7.63%	2.72%	2,108,865	2,181,561	•	27,333	1,053	(29,145)	(145,338)	121,591	20,234	2,157,055
2021 1st corporate bonds (10 years)	1,500,000	May 2021	10 years	3.97%	3.97%	1,500,000	1,536,239	•	29,530	m	(29,550)	1	1	6,200	1,506,222
2021 2nd corporate bonds (10 years)	3,500,000	June 2021	10 years	3.97%	3.97%	3,500,000	3,579,226	•	68,904	7	(138,950)	•	1	9,136	3,509,187
2021 3rd corporate bonds (10 years)	1,800,000	June 2021	10 years	3.99%	3.99%	1,800,000	1,838,195	•	35,615	m	(71,820)	•	1	1,968	1,801,993
2022 1st medium-term bonds (10 years)	1,500,000	February 2022	10 years	3.74%	3.80%	1,500,000	1,542,554	1	27,797	354	(26,100)	1	1	19,366	1,514,605
2022 2nd medium-term bonds (3 years)	3,000,000	March 2022	3 years	2.84%	7.89%	3,000,000	3,070,524	1	14,472	704	(3,085,200)	1	1	1	•
2022 3rd medium-term bonds (10 years)	1,500,000	April 2022	10 years	3.70%	3.76%	1,500,000	1,533,396	1	27,522	332	(22,500)	•	1	10,644	1,505,773
2022 1st medium-term notes (JiangSu 3 years)*	200,000	April 2022	3 years	7.95%	7.95%	200,000	510,000	1	4,600	1	(214,600)	١	1	1	•
2022 6th medium-term notes (3 years)	2,000,000	August 2022	3 years	7.40%	2.51%	2,000,000	2,018,464	1	23,802	976	•	1	1	43,397	2,043,242
2024 1st medium-term notes (10 years)	1,000,000	January 2024	10 years	2.91%	7.97%	1,000,000	1,027,828	1	14,425	736	(29,100)	•	1	12,756	1,013,389
2024 1st green medium-term notes (3 years)	2,500,000	April 2024	3 years	7.70%	2.21%	2,500,000	2,539,880	1	27,274	(212)	(22,000)	•	1	12,055	2,511,639
2024 2nd medium-term notes (20 years)	1,000,000	May 2024	20 years	2.74%	2.77%	1,000,000	1,016,096	1	13,588	(1,271)	(27,400)	•	1	3,904	1,001,013
2024 3rd medium-term notes (10 years)	2,000,000	May 2024	10 years	7.68%	7.69%	2,000,000	2,033,806	•	26,579	(1,581)	(23,600)	٠	1	6,755	2,005,204
2024 4th medium-term notes (15 years)	2,000,000	July 2024	15 years	7.50%	2.51%	2,000,000	2,024,659	•	24,795	(1,590)	٠	٠	•	49,452	2,047,864
2024 5th medium-term notes (15 years)	2,000,000	July 2024	15 years	2.54%	7.55%	2,000,000	2,024,090	•	25,191	(1,876)	٠	٠	•	49,269	2,047,405
2024 6th medium-term notes (15 years)	2,000,000	July 2024	15 years	2.44%	2.45%	2,000,000	2,021,249	•	24,199	(2,263)	٠	٠	•	45,458	2,043,185
2024 7th medium-term notes (10 years)	1,500,000	August 2024	10 years	7.76%	2.27%	1,500,000	1,513,617	•	16,810	(1,156)	٠	٠	•	30,371	1,529,271
2024 8th medium-term notes (10 years)	1,300,000	August 2024	10 years	7.36%	2.37%	1,300,000	1,311,730	•	15,214	(223)	•	٠	•	26,898	1,326,392
2024 9th medium-term notes (3 years)	1,500,000	November 2024	3 years	7.09%	2.10%	1,500,000	1,503,540	٠	15,546	(592)	٠	٠	•	19,154	1,518,821
2025 1st medium-term notes (10 years)	2,000,000	January 2025	10 years	7.00%	2.04%	2,000,000	•	2,000,000	18,411	(2)	٠	٠	•	18,411	2,018,409
2025 2nd medium-term notes (3 years)	2,000,000	February 2025	3 years	1.80%	1.81%	2,000,000	•	2,000,000	13,019	Ξ	٠	٠	•	13,019	2,013,008
2025 3rd medium-term notes (5 years)	2,000,000	March 2025	5 years	2.12%	7.16%	2,000,000	•	2,000,000	12,778	77	٠	٠	1	12,778	2,012,805
2025 11th medium-term bonds (3 years)	1,500,000	June 2025	3 years	1.67%	1.69%	1,500,000	•	1,500,000	1,235	14	•	•	•	1,235	1,501,249
Total						52,317,730	45,695,878	7,500,000	717,708	(7,383)	(6,586,040)	(174,411)	208,431	638,634	47,354,183

These long-term bonds were issued by Huaneng Power International Jiangsu Energy Development Co., Ltd. ("Jiangsu Energy Development"), the subsidiary of the Company Jiangsu Energy Development.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

14. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

	As at 30 June As	at 31 December
	2025	2024
Government grants		
– Environmental subsidies (a)	771,020	825,583
– Other government grants	774,740	523,812
Contract liabilities	3,272,376	3,451,475
Repurchase obligation (b)	877,589	870,800
Other deferred income	46,160	50,521
Others (c)	1,180,077	833,552
Subtotal	6,921,962	6,555,743
Less: Current portion of other non-current liabilities	125,817	83,061
Total	6,796,145	6,472,682

- (a) These primarily represented subsidies for the construction of desulphurisation equipment and other environmental protection projects.
- (b) As at 30 June 2025, repurchase obligation to Hong Kong Asset Management amounted to approximately RMB878 million (31 December 2024: RMB871 million).
- (c) As at 30 June 2025, included in others, there were financial liabilities amounting to approximately RMB1,104 million (31 December 2024: RMB721 million), which were comprised of guarantee deposits, poverty relief payables, etc.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and other liabilities comprised:

		s at 31 December
	2025	2024
Accounts and notes payable	18,073,843	19,174,888
Payables to contractors for construction	25,450,247	31,222,084
Retention payables to contractors	2,303,318	2,020,874
Refund of government subsidies	1,500,000	1,500,000
Others	9,921,858	8,115,636
Total	57,249,266	62,033,482

Ageing analysis of accounts and notes payable, based on the invoice date, was as follows:

	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
Within 1 year	17,520,022	18,710,816
Between 1 and 2 years	139,550	135,151
Over 2 years	414,271	328,921
Total	18,073,843	19,174,888

16. SHORT-TERM BONDSDetails of the outstanding short-term bonds as at 30 June 2025 are summarised as follows:

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED

						Balance as at 31 December	Issued				Balance as at 30 June
Type of Instruments	Face Value	Issuance Date	Maturity	Coupon Rate	Issue Price	2024	Amount	Interest Amortisation	tisation	Repayment	2025
Super short-term bond (2024 11th)	4,000,000	November 2024	109 days	1.94%	4,000,000	4,010,921	1	12,331	(78)	(4,023,174)	1
Super short-term bond (2024 12th)	2,000,000	November 2024	91 days	1.92%	2,000,000	2,003,687	1	5,893	(2)	(2,009,575)	1
Super short-term bond (2024 13th)	2,000,000	December 2024	77 days	1.77%	2,000,000	2,002,502	1	4,946	70	(2,007,468)	1
Super short-term bond (2025 1st)	2,500,000	February 2025	95 days	1.97%	2,500,000	1	2,500,000	12,818	1	(2,512,818)	1
Super short-term bond (2025 2nd)	2,500,000	February 2025	92 days	2.03%	2,500,000	1	2,500,000	12,792	1	(2,512,792)	1
Super short-term bond (2025 3rd)	3,000,000	May 2025	62 days	1.47%	3,000,000	1	3,000,000	4,712	32	1	3,004,744
Super short-term bond (2025 4th)	3,000,000	May 2025	63 days	1.50%	3,000,000	1	3,000,000	4,192	71	1	3,004,213
Super short-term bond (2025 1st)	800,000	April 2025	30 days	1.63%	800,000	1	800,000	1,071	1	(801,071)	1
Super short-term bond (2025 2nd)	1,000,000	May 2025	30 days	1.47%	1,000,000	1	1,000,000	1,490	1	(1,001,490)	1
Super short-term bond (2025 3rd)	1,000,000	June 2025	30 days	1.69%	1,000,000	1	1,000,000	602	1	1	1,000,602
Total					21,800,000	8,017,110	13,800,000	60,847	(10)	(14,868,388)	7,009,559

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

17. SHORT-TERM LOANS

Short-term loans are as follows:

	As at 30 J	une 2025	As at 31 Dec	ember 2024
	RMB	Annual	RMB	Annual
	equivalent	interest rate	equivalent	interest rate
Secured	12,578	0.94%-2.60%	428,279	0.62%-4.00%
Unsecured	58,008,415	1.25%-2.80%	60,737,629	1.40%-3.15%
Total	58,020,993		61,165,908	

As at 30 June 2025, no short-term loans was pledged loans formed by factoring accounts receivable (31 December 2024: RMB47 million).

As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans of RMB9 million (31 December 2024: RMB47 million) represented the notes receivable that were discounted with recourse. As these notes receivable had not yet matured, the proceeds received were recorded as short-term loans. As at 30 June 2025, no short-term loans of approximately were secured by future revenue right from the electricity business (31 December 2024: RMB32 million).

As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans of RMB4 million (31 December 2024: RMB302 million) were secured by certain equipment with a net book value amounting to approximately RMB150 million (31 December 2024: RMB427 million).

As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans borrowed from Huaneng Finance amounted to RMB7,580 million (31 December 2024: RMB9,354 million) with annual interest rates ranging from 1.98% to 2.45% (31 December 2024: from 1.90% to 2.65%). As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans borrowed from Tiancheng Financial Leasing amounted to RMB4 million (31 December 2024: RMB278 million) with annual interest rates of 2.60% (31 December 2024: from 2.60% to 2.80%). As at 30 June 2025, short-term loans borrowed from Huaneng Group amounted to RMB100 million (31 December 2024: RMB5 million) with annual interest rates of 2.08% to 2.11% (31 December 2024: 2.78%). As at 30 June 2025, no short-term loans borrowed from Huaneng Yuncheng Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (31 December 2024: RMB73 million) with no annual interest rates (31 December 2024: from 3.80% to 4.00%).

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

18. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

	As at 30 June As	s at 31 December
	2025	2024
Deferred income tax assets before offsetting	5,202,220	5,358,471
Offset amount	(2,984,209)	(2,203,371)
Deferred income tax assets after offsetting	2,218,011	3,155,100
Deferred income tax liabilities before offsetting	(5,464,176)	(5,213,386)
Offset amount	2,984,209	2,203,371
Deferred income tax liabilities after offsetting	(2,479,967)	(3,010,015)
	(261,956)	145,085

The gross movement on the deferred income tax accounts is as follows:

	As at 30 June As	at 31 December
	2025	2024
Beginning of the period/year	145,085	1,556,961
Business combination	114	662
Charged to profit or loss (Note 21)	(405,410)	(1,392,388)
Charged to other comprehensive income	99,216	(33,848)
Currency translation differences	(83,219)	13,894
Others	(17,742)	(196)
End of the period/year	(261,956)	145,085

19.ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2025, the net current liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately RMB73.249 billion (31 December 2024: RMB82.438 billion), total assets less current liabilities were approximately RMB432.130 billion (31 December 2024: RMB416.839 billion).

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Profit before income tax expense was determined after charging/(crediting) the following:

	For the six months	ended 30 June
	2025	2024
Total interest expense on borrowings	4,011,079	4,492,741
Less: Amounts capitalised in property, plant and equipment	509,262	451,041
Interest expenses charged to unaudited interim condensed		
consolidated statement of comprehensive income	3,501,817	4,041,700
Including: Interest expenses on lease liabilities	291,686	159,280
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	12,862,233	12,218,980
Depreciation of investment property	12,880	13,830
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	684,553	502,427
	13,559,666	12,735,237
Included in other operating expenses:		
– Operating expense of Ruyi Pakistan Energy	1,374,901	932,416
 Other materials expense 	749,867	718,037
– Electricity charges	730,467	874,813
– Cost of sales of raw materials	495,561	536,625
– Water charges	172,900	267,164
– Insurance expense	339,888	271,500
 Cleaning, greening and fire protection expense 	167,043	155,781
 Water conservancy fund and disabled security fund 	48,203	44,248
 Test and inspection expense 	115,475	96,617
– Service charge	413,786	460,091
 Auditors' remuneration-audit services 	17,804	13,215
– Other consulting expense	38,446	60,115
– Transportation allowance	85,861	87,634
– Office expense	103,728	125,418
 Minimum lease payments under operating leases, lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 		
liabilities	200,240	263,788
 Amortisation of other non-current assets 	76,830	73,738
 Heating pipeline related cost 	70,965	79,509
 Property management expense 	63,521	62,889
 Pollutant charge and carbon emission trading cost* 	110,024	13,467
– Information technology maintenance expense	36,695	38,169
– Travel expense	77,055	73,861
– Donations	23,432	22,486

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

20.PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Profit before income tax expense was determined after charging/(crediting) the following: (Continued)

	For the six months e	ended 30 June
	2025	2024
– Business entertainment expense	11,290	12,142
– Penalties		32,550
– (Reversal of write-down of)/write-down of inventories to net		
realisable value	(211)	136
 Impairment loss of other non-current assets 	1,962	543
 Impairment loss property, plant and equipment 	254,682	-
 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets 	(104,944)	75,366
– Government grants	(365,157)	(440,567)
– Green Certificate Trading Costs	8,339	38,277
 Service fees on transmission and transformer facilities of 		
HIPDC	25,778	23,974
 Safety production expense 	457,805	527,894
 Research and development expense 	584,503	607,837
– Others	287,237	651,443
Total	6,673,976	6,801,176

^{*} The Group receives free quotas of carbon emission rights from the government on an annual basis and recognises the received free quota at the nominal amount (i.e., nil). When the annual actual emissions exceed the free quota of carbon emission rights, the Group should purchase the quota of carbon emission rights from other parties and recognises the emission costs as other operating expenses.

21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

	For the six month	For the six months ended 30 June	
	2025	2024	
Current income tax expense	1,982,430	1,364,459	
Deferred income tax	405,410	581,221	
Total	2,387,840	1,945,680	

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there were no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong for the six months ended 30 June 2025 (for the six months ended 30 June 2024: Nil).

The Company and its PRC branches and subsidiaries are subject to income tax at 25%, except for certain PRC branches and subsidiaries that are tax exempted or taxed at preferential tax rates, as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations for the six months ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax rate applicable to Singapore subsidiaries is 17% (for the six months ended 30 June 2024: 17%).

The Company's overseas subsidiary in Pakistan engaged in the power generation business is entitled to an income tax exemption according to Pakistani 2015 Fiscal Act. Another subsidiary located in Pakistan is engaged in the provision of maintenance services. Before 1 July 2019, the subsidiary's tax liability would be calculated as the amount which is the highest of (i) normal tax at the rate of 29% of taxable income; (ii) Alternative Corporate Tax (ACT) at the rate of 17% of accounting profit; and (iii) minimum tax deductible at 8% of the revenue. If the income tax calculated is above the normal tax at the rate of 29%, it would be carried forward to subsequent years for settlement against the liabilities of the following years. The carryforward period is 5 years in the case of minimum tax and 10 years in the case of ACT. However, from 1 July 2019, if the minimum tax liability is above the normal tax calculated, it cannot be carried forward to subsequent years.

The reconciliation of the effective income tax rate from the statutory income tax rate is as follows:

For the six months ended 30 June	
2025	2024
25.00%	25.00%
(8.41%)	(9.77%)
(2.81%)	(1.74%)
0.30%	0.44%
1.88%	4.09%
(1.28%)	(1.85%)
0.45%	0.32%
0.78%	0.61%
15.91%	17.10%
	2025 25.00% (8.41%) (2.81%) 0.30% 1.88% (1.28%) 0.45% 0.78%

For the six months ended 30 June 2025, the effective tax rate was proportioned by income tax expense to profit before income tax expense (for the six months ended 30 June 2024: income tax expense to profit before income tax expense).

Pillar Two income taxes

The Company is within the scope of Pillar Two model rules. The Group has applied the mandatory exception to recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from Pillar Two income taxes, and will account for the Pillar Two income taxes as current tax when incurred. Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted as at 30 June 2025 in certain jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The Group has assessed its potential exposure based on the information available regarding the financial performance of the Group in the current interim period. Based on the assessment, the Group expects that it is not subject to material exposure to Pillar Two income taxes for the six months ended 30 June 2025. The Group continues to follow Pillar Two legislative developments and evaluates the potential future impact on its financial statements.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Pillar Two income taxes (Continued)

Jurisdictional updates are as follows:

Singapore

On 27 November 2024, Singapore published the Multinational Enterprise (Minimum Tax) Act 2024 ("MMT Act") in its Official Gazette. The MMT Act was passed by the Parliament on 15 October 2024 for which the Presidential Assent was received on 8 November 2024 to become law.

The MMT Act introduces a Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax and an Income Inclusion Rule for fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2025 for in-scope multinational groups. Subsidiary legislation (e.g., Rules, Regulations) will be released to cover the determination of Global Anti-Base Erosion Income or Loss and Adjusted Covered Taxes, safe harbour rules and transitional rules, etc.

The legislation does not incorporate the Undertaxed Profits Rule at this stage, as its implementation will be evaluated later in light of evolving international developments.

Hong Kong, China

On 28 May 2025, the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region passed the revised Taxation (Amendment) (Global Minimum Tax for Multinational Enterprise Groups) Bill 2024 (hereinafter referred to as the "Bill") following the committee review stage amendments (hereinafter referred to as the "amendments"), in order to implement the Global Anti-Base Erosion (GloBE) Rules and the Hong Kong Minimum Top-up Tax in Hong Kong. The Bill was gazetted as amended legislation on 6 June 2025. After the gazettal of the amended legislation, the GloBE Rules (Income Inclusion Rule) and the Hong Kong Minimum Top-up Tax will take effect for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2025. The Undertaxed Profits Rule will come into effect on a date to be specified in a future gazette notice.

Pakistan

As at 30 June 2025, the government of Pakistan has no indications to enact the Pillar Two legislation.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company excluding cumulative distribution of other equity instruments by the weighted average number of the Company's outstanding ordinary shares during the period.

	For the six months ended 30 June	
	2025	2024
Consolidated net profit attributable to		
equity holders of the Company	9,577,971	7,774,991
Less: Cumulative distribution of other equity instruments	1,413,697	1,457,861
Consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary		
shareholders of the Company	8,164,274	6,317,130
Weighted average number of the Company's		
outstanding ordinary shares ('000)	15,698,093	15,698,093
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB)	0.52	0.40

There was no dilutive effect on earnings per share since the Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the six months ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprised the following:

	As at 30 June A	As at 30 June As at 31 December	
	2025	2024	
Total bank balances and cash	23,129,652	19,932,035	
Less: Restricted cash	1,182,650	1,330,929	
Cash and cash equivalents as at period/year end	21,947,002	18,601,106	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

24. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

The related parties of the Group that had transactions with the Group are as follows:

Names of related parties	Nature of relationship
Huaneng Group Fuel Company and its subsidiaries	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Finance	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
China Huaneng Group Clean Energy Technology Research Institute Co., Ltd	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Changjiang Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Hebei Hanfeng Power Generation Limited Liability Company	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng (Tianjin) Coal Gasification Power Generation Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Xiapu Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Shidaowan Nuclear Power Development Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Tiancheng Financial Leasing	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Shanghai Ruining Shipping Co., Ltd	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Supply Chain Platform Technology Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company and also a subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Ruian Huaou Offshore Wind Power Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Shanxi Lu'an Group Zuoquan Wulihou Coal Industry Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Chongqing Luoyu Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Suzhou Sugao Renewables Service Co. Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Fujian Gulei Energy Technology Co. Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Chongqing Huaneng Stone Powder Co. Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Taiyuan Dongshan Petrochina Kunlun Gas Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Huaneng Shenbei Thermal Power Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Zhengzhou Airport Xinggang Electric Power Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Liaocheng Jinshui Lake Water Supply Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company
Wuhan Xingang Jiangbei Railway Co., Ltd.	An associate of the Company

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The related parties of the Group that had transactions with the Group are as follows: (Continued)

Names of related parties	Nature of relationship
Shanghai Time Shipping Co., Ltd	A joint venture of the Company
Huaneng Yingkou Port Limited Liability Company	A joint venture of the Company
Jiangsu Nantong Power Co., Ltd	A joint venture of the Company
Yantai Gangneng Bulk Cargo Terminal Co., Ltd.	A joint venture of the Company
Shandong Luyi Power International Limited Company	A joint venture of the Company
Jining Huayuan Thermal Power Co., Ltd.	A joint venture of the Company
Jilin Renewable Energy Investment and Development Co., Ltd.	A joint venture of the Company
Huaneng Renewables Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Nuclear Power Development Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Energy & Communications Holdings Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Coal Business Sector Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Capital Services and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Group Technology Innovation Center	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Real Estate Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
North United Power Corporation and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Lancangjiang Hydropower Co., Inc. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Inner Mongolia Eastern Energy Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Sichuan Huaneng Hydropower Development Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Shanxi Power Generation Limited and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Ningxia Energy Company Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Gansu Energy Development Company Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Tibet Yarlung Zangbo River Hydropower Development & Investment Company Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
China Hua Neng Group Hong Kong Limited and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Xi'an Thermal Power Research Institute Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Hong Kong Asset Management	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Integrated Industry Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Tianjin Huaneng Yangliuqing Thermal Power Industrial Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Gongrong No.1 (Tianjin) Equity Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Songyuan Power Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Tendering Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Caofeidian Port Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Beijing Changping Huaneng Training Center	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Overseas Enterprise Management Limited	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng (Dalian) Energy And Heat Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Nuclear Technology Research Institute Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The related parties of the Group that had transactions with the Group are as follows: (Continued)

Names of related parties	Nature of relationship
Green Coal Power Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng (Dalian) Energy and Heat Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Jiangsu Energy Development Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Zhaocai Digital Technology Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Huaneng Gongrong No.2 (Tianjin) Equity Investment Fund	Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group
Partnership (Limited Partnership) and its subsidiaries	
Huaneng Yuncheng Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.	A subsidiary of Huaneng Group
Other government-related enterprises*	Related parties of the Company

* Huaneng Group is a state-owned enterprise. In accordance with the revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, government-related enterprises, other than entities under Huaneng Group, over which the PRC government has control, joint control or significant influence, are also considered as related parties of the Group ("other government-related enterprises").

The majority of the business activities of the Group are conducted with other government-related enterprises. For the purpose of the related party transaction disclosure, the Group has established procedures to determine, to the extent possible, the identification of the ownership structure of its customers and suppliers as to whether they are government-related enterprises. However, many government-related enterprises have a multi-layered corporate structure and the ownership structures change over time as a result of transfers and privatisation programs. Nevertheless, management believes that all material related party transactions have been adequately disclosed.

In addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in this unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information, the following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group and its related parties during the period and significant balances arising from related party transactions as at the end of the period.

All transactions with related parties were conducted at prices and on terms mutually agreed by the parties involved, and are based on normal commercial terms and with reference to the prevailing local market conditions.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

- (a) Related party balances
- i. Bank balances and cash in related parties

	As at 30 June	As at 30 June As at 31 December	
	2025	2024	
Deposits in Huaneng Finance – Savings deposit	16,812,718	14,471,065	
samys acposit		, ., ., .,	

As at 30 June 2025, the annual interest rates for these savings deposits ranged from 0.15% to 1.95% (31 December 2024: from 0.35% to 2.75%).

- ii. As described in Notes 12 and 17, certain loans of the Group were borrowed from Huaneng Group, Huaneng Finance, Tiancheng Financial Leasing and Hong Kong Asset Management.
- **iii.** Except for those disclosed in Notes 12 and 17, the majority of the balances with Huaneng Group, HIPDC, subsidiaries of Huaneng Group, associates, joint ventures and other related parties are unsecured and repayable or payable within one year. As at and for the six months ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, no provision was made on receivable balances from these related parties.

Accounts receivable, other receivables and assets and other non-current assets comprised the following balances due from related parties:

	As at 30 June As 2025	at 31 December 2024
Due from Huaneng Group	124,606	129,051
Due from HIPDC	3,324	308
Due from associates	37,495	234,431
Due from joint ventures	368,204	405,448
Due from subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	1,251,876	1,314,222
Total	1,785,505	2,083,460

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) Related party balances (Continued)

iv. Accounts payable and other liabilities, lease liabilities and other non-current liabilities comprised the following balances due to related parties:

	As at 30 June As at 31 December	
	2025	2024
Due to Huaneng Group	559,525	62,052
Due to HIPDC	1,411,608	3,006
Due to associates	45,020	248,981
Due to joint ventures	56,011	77,110
Due to subsidiaries of Huaneng Group (Note)	10,321,392	11,269,663
Total	12,393,556	11,660,812

Note: The balances with subsidiaries of Huaneng Group mainly represent payables related to fuel procurement, construction services, lease, and other business transactions.

V. As at 30 June 2025, included in long-term loans (including current portion) and short-term loans were loans payable to other government-related enterprises amounting to RMB222.4 billion (31 December 2024: RMB223.3 billion).

The balances with government-related enterprises also included substantially all the accounts receivable due from domestic power plants of government-related power grid companies, the bank deposits placed with government-related financial institutions as well as accounts payable and other payables arising from the purchases of coal and property, plant and equipment, construction service and related labour service provided by other government-related enterprises. Except for bank deposits, these balances are unsecured, and the majority of the balances are receivable/repayable within one year.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Related party transactions

i. Procurement of goods and receiving services

	For the six months ended 30 June	
	2025	2024
Huaneng Group		
Other purchases	-	88
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group		
Purchase of coal and transportation services	20,965,735	29,576,457
Technical services and engineering contracting services	908,706	837,057
Purchase of equipment	374,016	188,296
Purchase of heat	45,641	56,632
Other purchases	41,047	74,784
Purchase carbon emission reduction resources and related services	18	-
Joint ventures of the Group		
Purchase of coal and transportation services	129,053	260,671
Technical services and engineering contracting services	1,856	1,467
Associates of the Group		
Purchase of equipment	-	9,804
Purchase of coal and transportation services	886,094	882,072

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

- (b) Related party transactions (Continued)
- ii. Sale of goods and rendering of services

	For the six months ended 30 June	
	2025	2024
Huaneng Group		
Service provided	87,592	21,947
HIPDC		
Service provided	-	157
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group		
Sales of heat	29,335	48,067
Service provided	126,697	105,400
Sales of coal and transportation services	1,027	_
Sales of carbon emission reduction resources and related services	28,581	_
Other sales	3	2,441
Associates of the Group		
Sales of heat	26,518	30,553
Service provided	430	_
Other sales	2,409	4,138
Joint ventures of the Group		
Service provided	49,892	18,743

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

- (b) Related party transactions (Continued)
- iii. Other related party transactions
- (1) Rental charge paid

Lessor name	Types of leased assets	short-term leases of assets for	narges for leases and low-value simplified essing	payme include measuren	le lease ents not ed in the nent of the liability	Rent	paid	interest e	ume xpense on iability		eased use assets
		2025.1-6	2024.1-6	2025.1-6	2024.1-6	2025.1-6	2024.1-6	2025.1-6	2024.1-6	2025.1-6	2024.1-6
HIPDC	Transmission and transformation facilities	37,753	23,974	-	-		-		-		-
HIPDC	Land	487	-	-	-	2,104	453	696	-	-	-
HIPDC	Office building	3,979	3,979	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	Office building	45,868	26,833	-	-	32,400	31,235	1,554	146	-	7,705
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	Mechanical equipment	-	4,191	-	-	-	470,546	-	12,810	346,260	-
Total		88,087	58,977			34,504	502,234	2,250	12,956	346,260	7,705

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

- (b) Related party transactions (Continued)
- iii. Other related party transactions (Continued)

	For the six months	For the six months ended 30 June		
	2025	2024		
(2) Rental income received				
Huaneng Group	552	27		
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	6,414	6,231		
A joint venture of the Group	3,628	3,306		
Associates of the Group	236	-		
(3) Net loans (paid to)/received from				
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	(1,770,683)	(5,131,869)		
A joint venture of the Group	-	218,289		
Huaneng Group	50,000	(267,000)		
(4) Interest expense on loans				
Huaneng Group	3,721	21,127		
A joint venture of the Group	5,276	5,765		
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	200,548	337,244		
(5) Interest income on a loan				
A Joint venture of the Group	-	1,872		
(6) Recover the entrusted loan				
A Joint venture of the Group		2,000		

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

- (b) Related party transactions (Continued)
- iii. Other related party transactions (Continued)

	For the six months ended 30 June		
	2025	2024	
(7) Capital injection from a subsidiary of Huaneng Group			
A subsidiary of Huaneng Group	71,523	26,355	
(8) Capital injection to			
Associates of the Group	51,800	307,669	
Joint ventures of the Group	-	214,443	
(9) Entrusted management fee			
Huaneng Group	7,459	7,459	
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	3,000	710	
(10)Trusteeship management income			
Huaneng Group	3,326	3,053	
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	103,553	81,313	
Associates of the Group	4,780	_	
Joint ventures of the Group	3,226	_	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Related party transactions (Continued)

iii. Other related party transactions (Continued)

Transactions with other government-related enterprises

For the six months ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, the Group sold substantially all their products to local government-related power grid companies. Please refer to note 4(b) for details of information about sales to major power grid companies.

For the six months ended 30 June 2025 and 2024, other collectively significant transactions with government-related enterprises also included a large portion of fuel purchases, property, plant and equipment, construction service and related labour employed.

(c) Guarantees

	As at 30 June	As at 31 December
	2025	2024
Guarantee provided for		
– Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	44,515	88,652

China Huaneng Group Fuel Co., Ltd. ("Huaneng Group Fuel") guaranteed the financial leasing business between Shanghai Ruining Shipping Co., Ltd. ("Ruining Shipping") and ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. Huaneng Hainan Power Generation Co., Ltd. ("Hainan Power Generation"), the subsidiary of the Company, counter-guaranteed based on the 40% equity ownership in Ruining Shipping. As at 30 June 2025, Hainan Power Generation counter-guaranteed Huaneng Group Fuel of approximately RMB45 million (31 December 2024: RMB89 million).

(d) Pre-tax benefits and social insurance of key management personnel

	For the six months	For the six months ended 30 June		
	2025	2024		
Salaries	2,754	2,559		
Pension	752	782		
Total	3,506	3,341		

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(e) Related party commitments

Related party commitments which were contracted but not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

i. Capital commitments

	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	1,126,787	1,148,278

ii. Fuel purchase and transportation commitments

	As at 30 June	As at 31 December
	2025	2024
Subsidiaries of Huaneng Group	10,931,018	5,059,690
A joint venture of the Group	98,135	142,192
An associate of the Group	1,686,260	764,976

25.CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments mainly relate to the construction of new power projects, certain ancillary facilities and renovation projects for existing power plants. Details of such commitments are as follows:

	As at 30 June 2025	As at 31 December 2024
Contracted, but not provided for	54,839,303	64,933,598

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

25.CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Fuel purchase commitments

At 30 June 2025, the Group has entered into major fuel purchase commitments amounting to approximately RMB37.483 billion (31 December 2024: RMB16.608 billion).

The Group has entered into various long-term fuel supply agreements with various suppliers in securing fuel supply for various periods. All the agreements require minimum, maximum or forecasted volume purchases and are subject to certain termination provisions. Related purchase commitments are as follows:

		As at 30 June 2025		
	Periods	Purchase quantities	Estimated unit costs (RMB)	
A government-related enterprise	2025–2026	5.84 million m³/month*	2.61/m³	
	2025-2026	1.31 million m³/month*	2.87/m³	
	2025-2026	2.73 million m³/month*	2.61/m³	
	2025-2026	8.60 million m³/month*	3.40/m³	
	2025-2026	5.21 million m³/month*	2.91/m³	
	2024-2025	12.88 million m³/month*	2.86/m³	
	2025-2026	37.86 million m³/month*	2.87/m³	
	2025-2026	37.40 million m³/month*	2.76/m³	
	2025-2026	171.70 million m³/year*	3.00/m ³	
	2025-2026	8.51 million m³/month*	2.78/m³	
	2025-2026	0.74 million m³/month*	2.50/m ³	
	2023-2026	222.00 million m³/year*	3.00/m ³	
	2025-2035	605.00 million m³/year*	2.68/m³	
	2025–2026	50.82 million m³/year*	2.98/m³	
Other suppliers	2025	138.52-148.52 BBtu**/day	approximately 86,000/BBtu	
• •	2026	62.40-82.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 96,000/BBtu	
	2027	62.40-82.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 96,000/BBtu	
	2028	62.40-82.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 96,000/BBtu	
	2029	20.00-62.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 96,000/BBtu	
	2030	20.00 BBtu**/day	approximately 94,000/BBtu	

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25.CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Fuel purchase commitments (Continued)

		As at 31 December 2024		
	Periods	Purchase quantities	Estimated unit costs (RMB)	
A government-related enterprise	2023–2039	2.8 million m³/day*	3.40/m³	
A government-related enterprise	2025	38.45 million m³/month *	2.95/m³	
	2025	4.98 million m³/month *	2.92/m³	
	2025	44.39 million m³/month *	2.95/m³	
A government-related enterprise	2023–2026	222 million m³/year*	2.63/m³	
Other suppliers	2025	138.52-148.52 BBtu**/day	approximately 107,000/BBtu	
	2026	62.40-82.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 94,000/BBtu	
	2027	62.40-82.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 94,000/BBtu	
	2028	62.40-82.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 94,000/BBtu	
	2029	20.00-62.40 BBtu**/day	approximately 92,000/BBtu	
	2030	20 BBtu**/day	approximately 93,000/BBtu	

^{*} The quantities represent the maximum volume, whereas others represent the minimum or forecasted volume if not specified.

^{**} BBtu: Billion British Thermal Unit

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

26.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Disputes over responsibilities for damage caused by vessel collision over the 400MW Offshore Wind Power Project of Shengdong Rudong Offshore Windpower Co., Ltd. ("Shengdong Rudong")

Shengdong Rudong, a subsidiary of the Company, was in charge of the construction and operation of a 400MW Offshore Wind-power Project. As stipulated by the construction contract signed between Shengdong Rudong and CCCC Third Harbor Engineering Bureau Co., Ltd. ("CCCC Third Harbor Bureau") on 18 April 2019, CCCC Third Harbor Bureau was responsible for the construction of the offshore wind farm and related construction safety management. On 1 August 2019, a vessel chartering contract was signed between CCCC Third Harbor Bureau and Nantong Ocean Water Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. ("Nantong Water Construction"). As stipulated by the contract, Vessel "Wen Qiang 8", which was owned by Nantong Water Construction, would be chartered by CCCC Third Harbor Bureau as the construction operation vessel. During the chartering period, Nantong Water Construction was responsible for the safety of Vessel "Wen Qiang 8" and the security of the personnel on board.

On 22 September 2019, in order to evade typhoon, Vessel "Wen Qiang 8" anchored nearby the #32 wind turbine pile foundation of Shengdong Rudong 400MW Offshore Wind-farm located around Nantong coastal area. Affected by strong wind, violent waves and big tides, the anchor steel cable was broken, leading to dragging-of-anchor of Vessel "Wen Qiang 8", and collision with the pipeline bridge of land-island access of Nantong Gang Yangkou Port. The pipeline bridge, bearing line pipes, and Vessel "WenQiang 8" all suffered damages from this collision accident, constituting a relatively large level of water traffic accident.

The above accident has resulted in three lawsuits, with the litigation claiming amount being approximately RMB703 million in total. Shengdong Rudong, together with other several entities, were joint defendants. Based on the professional advice of lawyers, Shengdong Rudong has argued from various aspects that it should not bear any liability for infringement. The large value of the subject matter involved, and the possibility that other parties may be entitled to limitations of liability for maritime claims, Shengdong Rudong has made a provision for estimated liabilities of RMB70 million for this litigation in 2023.

In April 2024, the Shanghai Maritime Court rendered a judgment of first instance in this case, ordering that Shenggdong Rudong was not liable. The plaintiff was dissatisfied with the first instance judgment and filed an appeal for a second instance, and as of now, the second instance has not yet made a judgment.

In May 2025, Shengdong Rudong received the application for retrial and the notice of response to the lawsuit, Shengdong Rudong believes that there is still significant uncertainty in the case, and therefore, it will not reverse the provision for contingent liabilities accrued in 2023 for the time being.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PRC GAAP AND IFRSS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

The financial statements, which have been prepared by the Group in conformity with PRC GAAP, differ in certain respects from those of IFRSs. The major impact of adjustments for IFRSs, on the consolidated net profit and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, is summarised as follows:

	Consolidated net prof to equity holders of for the six months en	the Company	Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company As at 30 June As at 31 December		
	2025	2024	2025	2024	
Consolidated net profit/equity attributable to equity holders of the Company under PRC GAAP	9,261,885	7,453,818	142,050,534	137,414,785	
Impact of IFRSs adjustments:					
Differences in accounting treatment on business combinations under common control and depreciation, amortisation, disposal and impairment of assets acquired in business					
combinations under common control (A)	(290,840)	(318,144)	4,217,331	4,508,171	
Difference on depreciation related to borrowing costs capitalised in previous years (B)	(2.701)	(2.010)	20 124	21 025	
Difference on reserve funds (C)	(3,701) 515,135	(3,019) 464,357	28,124	31,825	
Others	22,726	43,906	(508,995)	(510,868)	
Applicable deferred income tax impact of the		13,300	(500)555)	(313,333)	
GAAP differences above (D)	67,088	87,122	3,569,179	3,502,091	
Profit/(loss) and equity attributable to non-					
controlling interests on the adjustments above	5,678	46,951	(1,051,015)	(1,151,675)	
Consolidated net profit/equity attributable to equity holders of the Company under IFRSs	9,577,971	7,774,991	148,305,158	143,794,329	

111

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PRC GAAP AND IFRSS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated))

(A) Differences in the accounting treatment on business combinations under common control and depreciation, amortisation, disposal and impairment of assets acquired in business combinations under common control

Huaneng Group is the parent company of HIPDC, which in turn is also the ultimate parent of the Company. The Company has carried out a series of acquisitions from Huaneng Group and HIPDC. As the acquired power companies and plants and the Company were under common control of Huaneng Group before and after the acquisitions, such acquisitions were regarded as business combinations under common control.

In accordance with PRC GAAP, for business combinations under common control, the assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations are measured at the carrying amounts of the acquirees in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate controlling party on the acquisition date. The difference between the carrying amounts of the net assets acquired and the consideration paid is adjusted to the equity account of the acquirer. The operating results for all periods presented are retrospectively restated as if the current structure and operations resulting from the acquisition had been in existence since the beginning of the earliest year presented, with financial data of previously separate entities consolidated. The cash consideration paid by the Company is treated as an equity transaction in the year of acquisition. The subsequent adjustment of contingent consideration after the acquisition date is also accounted for as an equity transaction.

For business combinations occurred prior to 1 January 2007, in accordance with the previous PRC GAAP, when equity interests acquired were less than 100%, the assets and liabilities of the acquirees were measured at their carrying amounts. The excess of the consideration over the proportionate share of the carrying amounts of the net assets acquired was recorded as an equity investment difference and amortised on a straight-line basis for not more than 10 years. When acquiring the entire equity, the entire assets and liabilities are accounted for in a manner similar to purchase accounting. Goodwill arising from such transactions was amortised over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. On 1 January 2007, in accordance with PRC GAAP, the unamortised equity investment differences and goodwill arising from business combinations under common control were written off against undistributed profits.

Under IFRSs, the Company and its subsidiaries have adopted the purchase method to account for the acquisitions above. The assets and liabilities acquired in acquisitions were recorded at fair value by the acquirer. The excess of the acquisition cost over the proportionate share of fair value of net identifiable assets acquired was recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The operating results of the acquirees are consolidated in the operating results of the Company and its subsidiaries from the acquisition dates onwards. The contingent consideration not classified as equity is measured at fair value at each reporting date with the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss, if such changes are not measurement period adjustments.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PRC GAAP AND IFRSS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 (Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB unless otherwise stated)

(A) Differences in accounting treatment on business combinations under common control and depreciation, amortisation, disposal and impairment of assets acquired in business combinations under common control (Continued)

As mentioned above, the differences in the accounting treatment under PRC GAAP and IFRSs on business combinations under common control affect both equity and profit. Meanwhile, due to different measurement bases of the assets acquired, depreciation and amortisation in the period subsequent to the acquisition will be affected which will also affect the equity and profit or loss upon subsequent disposals and impairment of such investments. Such differences will be gradually eliminated following subsequent depreciation, amortisation and disposal of the related assets.

(b) Effect of depreciation on the capitalisation of borrowing costs in previous years

In previous years, under the previous PRC GAAP, the scope of capitalisation of borrowing costs was limited to specific borrowings, and thus, borrowing costs arising from general borrowings were not capitalised. In accordance with IFRSs, the Company and its subsidiaries capitalised borrowing costs on general borrowings used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets in addition to the capitalisation of borrowing costs on specific borrowings. From 1 January 2007 onwards, the Company and its subsidiaries adopted PRC GAAP No. 17 prospectively. The current adjustments represent the related depreciation on capitalised borrowing costs included in the cost of the related assets under IFRSs in previous years.

(C) Effect of reserve funds

Reserve funds represent safety funds. In accordance with PRC GAAP, appropriation of safety funds is recognized in profit or loss and reserve funds of equity. In accordance with IFRSs, unutilized safety funds are treated as appropriation from retained earnings to reserve funds and the relevant expenses are recognized in profit or loss only when it is incurred.

(D) Deferred income tax impact on gaap differences

This represents related deferred income tax impact on the GAAP differences above where applicable.

